

LUND UNIVERSITY

AxI RTK and microRNAs in urogenital cancers

Fritz, Helena

2015

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Fritz, H. (2015). Axl RTK and micróRNAs in urogenital cancers. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Clinical Chemistry, Malmö]. Translational Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Axl RTK and microRNAs in urogenital cancers

Helena Fritz

Doctoral Thesis



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Jubileumsaulan, Malmö University Hospital, Thursday 28th of May 2015 at 09:00.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Heike Allgayer, MD PhD Department of Experimental Surgery Mannheim Medical Faculty University of Heidelberg

	1		
	Document name	TION	
	DOCTORAL DISSERT	mon	
Department of Translational Medicine	Date of issue		
Clinical Chemistry Malmö University Hospital	28 th of May, 2015		
SE-20502 Malmö, Sweden			
Authon Holono Eritz	Succession and an institution		
	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle			
AXI KIK and microRNAs in urogenital cancers			
This thesis is based on four projects focused on the Axl receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) and microRNAs in clear cell			
renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) and in prostate cancer (PCa). P	aper I focuses on differential	ly expressed microRNAs in	
ccRCC, which were measured in a cohort of 198 RCC tumors. Importantly, we identified a 2-microRNA ratio			
miR $(21/10b)$, which is an independent prognostic factor in metastasis-free ccRCC patients. These microRNAs are			
both linked to chronic kidney disease, a risk factor for ccRC	C, and could potentially be	involved in the progression	
from kidney disease to renal cancer. In Paper II, our aim was to elucidate if members of the miR-34 family, which is			
a ramity of microkink tumor suppressors, could regulate expression in ccRCC tumors as reports have been conflicting	AXI IN CCRCC, and also to AXI has previously been sh	own to be a target of miR-	
34a in solid cancers, and high Axl expression correlates with	h worsened prognosis in R	CC. We showed that both	
miR-34a and miR-34c are direct regulators of Axl in vitro, h	owever miR-34a expression	is increased in ccRCC and	
does not correlate with Axl mRNA or protein in ccRCC tu	mors, and has no correlatio	n with survival in ccRCC.	
Paper III was aimed at elucidating whether any of the miR-3-	4 family members could regu	ilate Axl expression PCa, as	
disease severity. In addition, we sought to elucidate the ro	le of decreased Axl expression	on in miR-34a/c-mediated	
tumor suppression. Although we could show direct regulation of Axl by miR-34a and miR-34c, our results did not			
support regulation of Axl as the main function in miR-34	ía/c tumor suppression in l	PCa. The main functional	
outcome of miR-34a/c-mediated loss of Axl seemed to be in reduced proliferation in response to Gas6. Finally, paper			
IV has the aim of investigating the role of Gaso/Axl signaling to resistance to targeted therapies in cancer Sunitinib is	g in Sunitinib treatment in c	drug used in treatment of	
advanced ccRCC, however disease progression eventually occ	urs in many patients. We sh	ow that Sunitinib does not	
inhibit Axl activation by Gas6; instead Axl phosphorylation	was enhanced in the preser	nce of Gas6 and Sunitinib,	
both in ccRCC cells and in endothelial cells. Moreover, we observed activation of Akt pathway in Sunitinib-treated			
cells, which was enhanced by the addition of Gas6. In addition Sunitinib activated the epidermal and hepatocyte			
growth factor receptors, an effect that was augmented by Gaso. Interestingly, Gaso stimulation was associated with			
		-,	
Key words			
Axl, Gas6, microRNA, miR-34, miR-21, miR-10b, renal cell carcinoma, prostate cancer, clear cell renal cell			
carcinoma, Sunitinib			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language	
ISSN and key title		ISBN	
1652-8220		978-91-7619-142-2	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 218	Price	
	Security classification	1	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature _____Date _____

Axl RTK and microRNAs in urogenital cancers

Helena Fritz

Doctoral Thesis



© Helena Fritz 2015

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Translational Medicine ISBN 978-91-7619-142-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2015



Table of contents

List of papers	7
Abbreviations	8
Preface	11
The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase	13
Receptor tyrosine kinases	13
The TAM family of RTKs	14
Gas6 and Protein S	16
Axl RTK	17
Structure, expression and regulation of Axl	17
Axl activation and signaling	19
Axl in the immune system	22
Axl in the vascular system	23
Axl in cancer	24
microRNAs	27
Expression and regulation of microRNAs	27
MicroRNA – mRNA interactions and post-transcriptional regulation	31
MicroRNAs in cancer	33
The miR-34 family	33
miR-21	34
miR-10b	36
The kidneys and renal cell carcinoma	37
The kidneys	37
Renal cell carcinoma	39
Axl and Gas6 in the kidney and RCC	40
The miR-34 family in RCC	42
miR-21 in RCC	43
miR-10b in RCC	43
The prostate and prostate cancer	45

The prostate	45
Prostate cancer	46
Axl and Gas6 in PCa	47
The miR-34 family in PCa	48
The present investigation	49
Paper I	49
Introduction	49
Methods and results	49
Conclusions and future perspectives	50
Paper II	51
Introduction	51
Methods and results	51
Conclusions and future perspectives	52
Paper III	52
Introduction	52
Methods and results	53
Conclusions and future perspectives	53
Paper IV	54
Introduction	54
Methods and results	55
Conclusions and future perspectives	56
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	57
Acknowledgements	61
References	63

List of papers

Paper I

Fritz HK, Lindgren D, Ljungberg B, Axelson H, and Dahlbäck B. The miR(21/10b) ratio as a prognostic marker in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Eur J Cancer. 2014 jul; 50:1758-65.

Reprinted with the permission of Elsevier B.V.

Paper II

Fritz HK, Gustafsson A, Ljungberg B, Ceder Y, Axelson H, and Dahlbäck B. Axlregulating tumor suppressor miR-34a increased in ccRCC but not correlating with Axl mRNA or Axl protein levels. Submitted manuscript.

Paper III

Fritz HK, Hagman Z, Ceder Y, Axelson H, and Dahlbäck B. Tumor suppressor miR-34a and miR-34c regulating expression of the tyrosine-kinase receptor Axl in prostate cancer cell lines *in vitro*. Manuscript.

Paper IV

Gustafsson A, **Fritz HK**, and Dahlbäck B. Investigation of Gas6/Axl signaling in clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma tumor cells and Endothelial cells in presence of the first line treatment drug Sunitinib Malate. Manuscript.

Abbreviations

Ago2 Argonaute 2 APCs antigen-presenting cells BPH benign prostate hyperplasia ccRCC clear cell renal cell carcinoma chRCC chromophobe renal cell carcinoma CKD chronic kidney disease CRPC castration-resistant prostate cancer DCs dendritic cells dsRBP double-stranded RNA binding proteins ECD extracellular domain ECs endothelial cells EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor EMT epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinases FCM flow cytomtery GLA γ-carboxyglutamic domain HER2/3 human epidermal growth factor receptor 2/3 HIF hypoxia-inducible factor IL interleukin IFN α interferon alpha LG laminin G-like domain

MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinases

NK cells natural killer cells

NSCLC non-small cell lung cancer

PCa prostate cancer

PCR polymerase chain reaction

PDGFR platelet-derived growth factor

PI3K phosphoinositide 3-kinase

pRCC papillary renal cell carcinoma

PSA prostate-specific antigen

RCC renal cell carcinoma

RISC RNA-induced silencing complex

RLC RISC-loading complex

RP radical prostectomy

RTK receptor tyrosine kinase

RT-qPCR reverse transcriptase quantitative polymerase chain reaction

sAxl soluble Axl

siRNA short interfering RNA

SLE systemic lupus erythematosus

SNP single nucleotide polymorphism

SOCS suppressor of cytokine signaling

TCGA the Cancer Genome Atlas

 $TGF\beta$ transforming growth factor beta

TLR toll-like receptor

 $TNF\alpha$ tumor necrosis factor alpha

TNM tumor-node-metastasis

TRBP TAR RNA binding protein

UTR untranslated region

VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

VEGFR vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

VHL von Hippel-Lindau

VSMCs vascular smooth muscle cells

 $\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{B}$ we stern blot

Preface

A common feature of cancers is the dysregulation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), caused for example by mutations or chromosomal amplification, or upstream dysregulation of factors that take part in regulation of the expression of RTKs, such as microRNAs. This thesis will provide an introduction to the Axl RTK and microRNAs, and their roles in renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and prostate cancer (PCa). Furthermore, the results and findings of my PhD student projects will be summarized and discussed.

The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase

Receptor tyrosine kinases

Signaling through cell surface-bound receptors is an important means for individual cells to receive external signals and to respond appropriately to stimuli from the extracellular environment. These cell surface receptors are classified into different families, primarily based on their mechanism of signal transduction, the main receptor families being G protein coupled receptors, receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), integrins, ion channel receptors, and cytokine receptors (Uings, 2000).

The RTKs are so-called enzyme-linked receptors, relying on extracellular binding of specific ligands and subsequent activation of an intracellular enzymatic domain to convey extracellular signals (Alberts, 2002). The most common mechanism of RTK activation is that upon binding of a protein ligand, most commonly a growth factor, the RTK dimerizes, enabling auto-phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the intracellular kinase domain, which causes conformational changes and thereby enables the kinase domain to recruit and interact with downstream signaling mediators (Gschwind, 2004).

Approximately 10 to 15% of all protein kinase genes in metazoan organisms are tyrosine kinases, and in humans 58 of the 90 tyrosine kinase genes are RTKs (Hunter, 2009). The RTKs are regulators of important cellular processes, including survival, proliferation, differentiation and migration (Lemmon, 2010), and many RTKs have been shown to be key players in development; for example, knockdown of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is associated with embryonic lethality and severe dysfunctions in the epithelial development of the skin, the lungs and the gastrointestinal tract (Gschwind, 2004). In the healthy resting cell, RTK activity is under tight control, however dysregulation or mutation of RTKs can cause abnormal receptor activation, associated with potent oncogenic activities which have been shown to play key roles in the development and progression of a large number of human cancers (Gschwind, 2004). For example, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) has been shown to be overexpressed in 30% of invasive breast cancers in humans, and the development of targeted therapies using humanized monoclonal antibodies to HER2 has improved the overall outcome for patients with HER2-amplified metastatic breast cancer tumors (Gschwind, 2004).

The TAM family of RTKs

The TAM family of RTKs comprises the three receptors Tyro3, Axl and MerTK, which have similar domain structures, with two Ig-like domains and two fibronectin type III domains, as well as a conserved kinase domain (Graham, 2014). The genes coding for the TAM receptors were initially discovered in 1991, in a study using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based approach to identify tyrosine kinase genes expressed in the developing rat brain (Lai, 1991). The same year, Axl was identified as an oncogene in two separate reports (Janssen, 1991, O'Bryan, 1991). Different aspects of Axl such as expression, regulation and function will be further discussed in the Axl RTK section.



Figure 1

The structure of the TAM (Tyro3, Axl, and MerTK) receptor tyrosine kinases. Image from Axelrod et. al., 2014. Reprinted with the permission of Oncotarget/Impact Journals.

MerTK was originally identified as a viral oncogene in an acute oncogenic avian retrovirus, and was named v-ryk (Jia, 1992) and its human equivalent MerTK was later identified in neoplastic B- and T-cells, and was named Mer due to its expression in monocytes, epithelial tissues, and reproductive tissues (Graham, 1994). In addition to being expressed in reproductive tissues such as testes, prostate and ovaries, MerTK is also expressed in kidneys and lungs, and to a lesser extent in the liver, small intestine, thymus, spleen, colon and in the placenta (van der Meer, 2014). MerTK is, together with its ligands Protein S and Gas6, involved in the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (Lemke, 2013), and MerTK knockout mice become blind shortly after birth due to insufficient phagocytosis of shed rod outer membranes by retinal epithelial cells, eventually causing photoreceptor cell death (Duncan, 2003). Furthermore, MerTK knockout mice develop systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)like autoimmune disease, possibly due to accumulation of apoptotic materials and decreased anti-inflammatory signaling by MerTK (Shao, 2011). Activation of MerTK by apoptotic cells has been shown to inhibit NF-KB activation and subsequent secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-12, IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor a (TNFa) (Graham, 2014, Sen, 2007). The extracellular part of MerTK can be shed from the membrane in a metalloproteinase-dependent process, yielding a soluble MerTK (sMer) protein which can function as a negative regulator of MerTK or TAM receptor activation by acting as a decoy receptor for the TAM ligands (Sather, 2007). The shed sMer is capable of inhibiting engulfment of apoptotic cells (Sather, 2007) and has been found to be increased in the serum of SLE patients, especially in those experiencing SLE flares or lupus nephritis (Wu, 2011). MerTK has been found to be overexpressed in a number of human cancers, such as melanoma, prostate cancer (PCa), breast cancer and gastric cancer (Verma, 2011). Expression of MerTK in a non-neoplastic breast epithelial cell line has been shown to stimulate efferocytosis and increase motility and chemoresistance, and it has been proposed that activation of MerTK by apoptotic cells could be a mechanism for immune suppression in cancer (Nguyen, 2014). Reduced thrombus formation and reduced platelet aggregate stabilization have been observed in MerTK knockout mice, indicating a role for MerTK in coagulation (van der Meer, 2014). In addition to Protein S and Gas6, three novel MerTK ligands involved in phagocytosis have recently been identified: Tubby, Tubby-like protein 1 and Galectin-3 (Cummings, 2013).

Human Tyro3 was first cloned and identified as an Axl-like RTK from human brain RNA, and was initially named Rse (Mark, 1994). Tyro3 is predominantly expressed in the central nervous system (Lai, 1994) but is also expressed in kidney, lungs, ovaries, testes, breast, retina, platelets, osteoclasts and monocytes and macrophages (Pierce, 2014). Like MerTK, Tyro3 is involved in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, and knockdown of Tyro3 is associated with reduced phagocytic capability, especially in dendritic cells (DCs) but also in macrophages (Rothlin, 2015). Tyro3 has been shown

to be overexpressed in a number of human cancers, including lung cancer, PCa, multiple myeloma, and melanoma (Graham, 2014) and in PCa the Tyro3/Axl expression axis has been proposed to play a role in regulating dormancy of disseminated tumor cells in the bone marrow (Taichman, 2013).

Gas6 and Protein S

Upon their discovery, the TAM family receptors were orphan receptors with regard to the fact that their ligands remained unknown. In 1995, the Vitamin K-dependent proteins Protein S and Gas6 were identified as ligands for Tyro3 and Axl, respectively (Stitt, 1995, Varnum, 1995). Gas6 has been found to be able to bind to and stimulate all of the TAM receptors, whereas Protein S has yet only been confirmed to bind Tyro3 and MerTK (van der Meer, 2014).

Protein S was originally identified in 1977 (Di Scipio, 1977) and is primarily known as an anticoagulant protease regulator, acting as a cofactor to activated Protein C which regulates the activity of the procoagulant proteins Factor V and Factor VIII in the blood coagulation cascade (Dahlback, 2000). In addition, Protein S has been shown to take part in the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (Anderson, 2003, Prasad, 2006) as well as regulation of cell survival and proliferation (Benzakour, 1995, Liu, 2003, Tomobe, 1996), and regulation of the inflammatory response (Lemke, 2008, Suleiman, 2013).

Gas6, or growth-arrest-specific 6, was first identified in 1988 as a gene expressed in growth-arrested cells (Schneider, 1988) and was later found to be a Vitamin Kdependent protein with homology to Protein S (Manfioletti, 1993). Gas6 shares 43% sequence homology to Protein S, and the two proteins have the same structure, with an N-terminal γ-carboxyglutamic acid (GLA) domain, followed by a loop region, four EGF-like repeats, and a sex hormone-binding globulin-like structure which contains two laminin G (LG)-like domains (Hafizi, 2006). The GLA domain requires posttranscriptional y-carboxylation of glutamate residues, which is a Vitamin Kdependent process, to form complexes with calcium ions that enable the GLA domain to interact with negatively charged phospholipid membranes (Hafizi, 2006). Proper γ -carboxylation of the Gas6 GLA domain has been indicated to be essential for Axl binding and activation (Hasanbasic, 2005), although the GLA domain does not interact directly with the TAM receptors upon binding and activation (Bellido-Martin, 2008). While most of the Vitamin K-dependent proteins are synthesized in the liver, Gas6 is in contrast expressed to a greater extent in heart, kidney, and lungs, and in endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, and in the bone marrow (van der Meer, 2014).

Gas6 has been indicated to be involved in platelet activation and thrombus stabilization (Cosemans, 2010), and Gas6 knockout mice are protected from venous and arterial thrombosis (Angelillo-Scherrer, 2001). Gas6 is present in the α -granules of mouse platelets and is released upon platelet activation, however human platelets do not contain Gas6 (Balogh, 2005) although Gas6 mRNA transcripts have been found in human platelets (Angelillo-Scherrer, 2001). Although Gas6 is undetectable in human platelets, Gas6 secreted from other sources may take part in coagulation, and indeed the plasma levels of Gas6 are increased in patients with venous thrombosis (Blostein, 2011). While Protein S is an abundant serum protein, of which approximately 70% circulates in complex with the C4-binding protein (Dahlback, 2000, Hafizi, 2006), Gas6 is present at much lower concentrations, approximately 0.2 nM (Balogh, 2005), and is complexed to soluble Axl (sAxl) in circulation (Ekman, 2010).

Axl RTK

Axl, named after the Greek word anexelekto, meaning uncontrolled, was originally discovered as a transforming gene in patients with chronic myeloproliferative disorder and chronic myeloid leukemia (Janssen, 1991, O'Bryan, 1991). Since its discovery, Axl has been shown to be overexpressed in a large number of human cancers, including lung cancer, breast cancer melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, prostate cancer, osteosarcoma, and pancreatic cancer (Graham, 2014).

Structure, expression and regulation of Axl

The Axl gene is located on position q13.2 on chromosome 19, and exists in two isoforms due to alternative splicing of exon 10 (O'Bryan, 1991). Axl can be expressed in either a partially or a fully glycosylated form, with a molecular weight of approximately 120 kDa and 140 kDa, respectively (O'Bryan, 1991).

The extracellular domain (ECD) of Axl contains two Ig-like domains, which primarily take part in binding to Gas6 *via* the LG domain (Sasaki, 2006), and two FNIII domains, which have been attributed adhesive properties as these domains can be found in cell adhesion molecules (Axelrod, 2014). However, the adhesive properties of Axl seems to be dependent on context, as reports have indicated that Axl can mediate cell-to-cell adhesion in some contexts, such as in aggregation of lung cancer and myeloid cell lines as well as in schwannoma (Ammoun, 2014, McCloskey, 1997, Wimmel, 2001), while loss of Axl expression in contrast seems to increase cell-to-cell adhesion in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma cell lines (Cichon, 2014).

A soluble form of Axl, sAxl, can be formed by extracellular proteolytic cleavage of Axl immediately outside of the transmembrane region (O'Bryan, 1995). The sAxl fragment contains the full ECD of Axl, while the transmembrane region and the intracellular domain remain in the cell membrane, and cleavage of Axl to sAxl has been proposed to be a mechanism for down-regulation of the kinase activity of Axl (O'Bryan, 1995). Furthermore, the sAxl fragment itself has been shown to be able to inhibit Gas6 signaling through Axl (Costa, 1996, O'Bryan, 1995), and sAxl correlates inversely with Gas6 in multiple sclerosis lesions (Weinger, 2009). In addition, an Axl-ECD construct resembling sAxl has been shown to inhibit the cell-to-cell adhesion of myeloid cells (McCloskey, 1997). In this context, it is noteworthy that all of the Gas6 in circulation is complexed to sAxl, indicating that although Gas6 is present in circulation, it is not available for TAM receptor stimulation (Ekman, 2010).

The kinase domain of Axl is highly conserved and homologous to several other RTK kinase domains, although it contains an unusual KWIAIES sequence (O'Bryan, 1991), which also can be found in MerTK, while the isoleucine residues are substituted with leucines in Tyro3 (Graham, 1994).

Axl is ubiquitously expressed and can be found in several human tissues, including hematopoietic cells such as platelets, DCs and macrophages as well as hematopoietic progenitor cells, and also in the kidneys, heart, endothelium, testis, skeletal muscle, endometrium, lungs, gall bladder and in cells of the digestive tract (Angelillo-Scherrer, 2001, Manfioletti, 1993, Neubauer, 1994, O'Bryan, 1991, Park, 2009, Scutera, 2009, Stenhoff, 2004, Uhlen, 2015, Yanagita, 1999, Zahuczky, 2011). In a murine study, Axl was found to be broadly expressed in late-stage embryogenesis with an onset at day 12.5 after fertilization (Faust, 1992) although Axl expression does not seem to be essential for normal embryonic development as homozygous Axl knockout mice are viable (Lu, 1999).

The promoter region of Axl is GC-rich and contains two major transcriptional start sites with recognition sites for transcriptional activators such as Sp1, AP-1, myeloid zinc finger 1 (MZF1) and the cyclic AMP response-element binding protein (Mudduluru, 2008, Mudduluru, 2010, Mudduluru, 2010, Schulz, 1993). Five different Sp-binding sites, Sp a/b/c/d/e, have been identified in the Axl promoter, and the Sp a and Sp b sites are essential for promoter activation by Sp1 and Sp3 (Mudduluru, 2008). Furthermore, Axl expression can be epigenetically regulated by CpG methylation within and around the Sp1-binding motifs in the promoter region (Liu, 2010, Mudduluru, 2008). Sp1 and Sp3 are transcription factors that are expressed in all mammalian cells, and are involved in the regulation of a vast array of cellular processes (Li, 2010). More than 12,000 Sp1/3 binding sites have been found in the human genome, and increased Sp1 and/or Sp3 expression has been observed in several human cancers (Li, 2010). Previous reports have revealed that Axl is overexpressed in renal cell carcinoma cells deficient in the tumor suppressor Von

Hippel-Lindau (VHL) protein, and reconstitution of VHL expression decreases Axl expression in a post-transcriptional manner (Gustafsson, 2009). Similarly, the hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 transcription factor, which is negatively regulated by VHL, can induce Axl expression in the hypoxia response of vascular endothelial cells (Manalo, 2005) and both HIF-1 and HIF-2 have been shown to bind to hypoxia-responsive elements in the promoter region of Axl (Rankin, 2014). Expression of Axl has also been shown to be post-transcriptionally regulated by microRNAs (Mackiewicz, 2011, Mudduluru, 2011), which will be further discussed in the microRNAs section of this thesis.

Downregulation of Axl can be mediated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl-b, which tags substrate proteins with ubiquitin for subsequent degradation in the proteasome (Paolino, 2014). In addition, Gas6-mediated stimulation of Axl has been shown to result in downregulation of Axl (Gustafsson, 2009, Mishra, 2012).

Axl activation and signaling

The primary activation mechanism of Axl is by binding the LG domains of Gas6, resulting in homodimerization, which enables autophosphorylation of the kinase domains and subsequent phosphorylation of downstream mediators (Mark, 1996, Sasaki, 2002, Tanabe, 1997). Although recombinant truncated Gas6, containing the LG domains only, has been shown to be sufficient for binding to Axl (Mark, 1996, Sasaki, 2002), γ -carboxylation of the GLA domains seems to be necessary for activation of Axl by Gas6 (Hasanbasic, 2005, Tanabe, 1997). Furthermore, binding of Gas6 to Axl is facilitated by the LG domains of Gas6 forming a V-shaped structure which is stabilized by inter-domain binding of a calcium ion (Sasaki, 2002). Gas6 binds to Axl with a 2:2 stoichiometry where each Gas6 interacts with Axl at two sites which are necessary for Axl activation; the major contact between the LG1 domain of Gas6 and the IG1 domain of Axl, and the minor contact where LG1 of Gas6 interacts with the IG2 domain of Axl (Sasaki, 2006).



Figure 2

The Gas6-Axl interaction. Image from Sasaki et. al., 2005. Reprinted with the permission of John Wiley and Sons/The EMBO Journal.

In addition to Gas6-mediated Axl homodimerization and activation, Axl has been indicated to be capable to form heterodimers with other RTKs such as the type I interferon receptor (IFNAR), EGFR, MET, and FLT3 (Meyer, 2013, Park, 2013, Rothlin, 2007, Salian-Mehta, 2013). Moreover, co-immunoprecipitation of Axl and Tyro3 has been demonstrated in a rodent cell line, indicating that Gas6-mediated signaling could be altered by TAM receptor expression on the cell surface (Brown, 2012). Furthermore, interaction or cross-talk between Axl and other RTKs such as HER2, human EGFR-related 3 (HER3), platelet-derived growth factor receptor β (PDGFR β), and c-Kit has been indicated (Meyer, 2013, Park, 2009).



Figure 3

Axl signaling. Image from Linger et. al., 2008. Reprinted with the permission of Elsevier.

The kinase domain of Axl has been shown to activate the Ras/extracellular signalregulated kinases (ERK) pathway via Grb2 and Shc (Fridell, 1996). Moreover, Axl kinase has been shown to bind to both p85 subunits of the phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K), the phospholipase Cy1 (PLCy1), c-src and lck (Braunger, 1997, Goruppi, 1997). The Axl kinase binding partners are recruited to three tyrosine residues within the Axl kinase domain; tyrosine 779 which interacts with the PI3K p85 subunits, tyrosine 821 which binds p85 subunits of PI3K, PLCy1, Grb2, c-src and lck, and tyrosine 866 which interacts with PLCy1 (Braunger, 1997, Weinger, 2008). Furthermore, Axl has been shown to bind to C1-TEN, the PI3K p55y subunit, suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS-1), RanBPM, and Nck1 (Hafizi, 2002, Hafizi, 2005). The multiple intracellular binding partners enables Axl signaling diversity through activation of signaling pathways such as PI3K, Akt, ERK, mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPK), NF-KB, and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), regulating important cellular processes such as growth and proliferation, survival, cell cycle progression, invasion and migration, and oncogenic transformation, and the functional outcomes of Axl signaling seems to be contextdependent (Axelrod, 2014, Graham, 2014).

Axl in the immune system

The TAM receptors are expressed in human myeloid immune cells, such as DCs and macrophages, and they play a role in regulating inflammation by limiting the immune response, and by taking part in phagocytic events (Rothlin, 2015). Although the effects are more profound in triple and double TAM receptor knockout mouse models, Axl knockout mice exhibit phenotypes that are linked to dysfunctional regulation of inflammation such as hyperactivation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and production of autoantibodies (Lu, 2001).

Axl, as well as Tyro3 and MerTK, is essential for late-stage maturation of natural killer (NK) cells, and NK cells lacking Axl show severely impaired cytotoxic activity (Caraux, 2006). Furthermore, blocking Gas6/Axl signaling decreases the IL-15mediated differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells to NK cells (Park, 2009). Axl is upregulated upon interferon α (IFN α)-mediated differentiation of monocytes to DCs, and Gas6/Axl signaling protects DCs from growth factor deprivationinduced apoptosis and induces chemotaxis towards Gas6 in a dose-dependent manner (Scutera, 2009). The Axl-upregulating effect of IFN α -mediated differentiation is inhibited by activation of pro-inflammatory toll-like receptors (TLRs) by increasing the expression of metalloproteinases that take part in cleaving Axl to sAxl, thereby decreasing Gas6/Axl signaling (Scutera, 2009). In mature DCs, knockdown of Axl is associated with increased interleukin-6 (IL-6) and TNF α secretion upon activation of TLRs, and conversely, Gas6-mediated activation of TAM receptors inhibits the TLRinduced cytokine production by activation of SOCS1 and SOCS3 via the transcription factor STAT1 (Rothlin, 2007). Interestingly, the proinflammatory IFNa receptor, IFNAR, colocalizes with Axl in DCs and is essential for the Gas6/Axlmediated activation of STAT1 (Rothlin, 2007). In macrophages, Gas6 signaling through IFNa-induced Axl induces expression of the transcription factors Twist1 and Twist2, which inhibit proinflammatory TNF α secretion (Sharif, 2006). Axl takes part in phagocytic events in both macrophages and DCs, most likely in concert with MerTK and Tyro3, and the TAM receptors seem to take part in immune homeostasis by acting as negative regulators of APC activation upon inflammatory stimuli (Lemke, 2003, Seitz, 2007). In the brain, Gas6/Axl signaling has been shown to protect oligodendrocytes from TNFa-mediated apoptosis (Shankar, 2006). The levels of sAxl are increased in human multiple sclerosis (MS) lesions, and in a mouse model of MS with Axl knockdown, autoimmune encephalomyelitis is more severe, fewer microglia and macrophages are activated, and the clearance of myelin debris is impaired (Weinger, 2009, Weinger, 2011).

Axl in the vascular system

Gas6 and Axl are expressed in endothelial cells (ECs), and have been indicated to take part in regulation of the immune response by inhibiting the adhesion of granulocytes to activated ECs when high levels of Gas6 are present (Avanzi, 1998, Manfioletti, 1993). In contrast, Gas6 has been reported to promote inflammation by enhancing the interactions between ECs, leukocytes, and platelets, and by promoting extravasation of leukocytes, as well as thrombosis (Tjwa, 2008). Gas6 has a wellestablished role in thrombus stabilization by increasing platelet aggregation and degranulation, which is dependent on TAM receptor expression (Angelillo-Scherrer, 2005, Cosemans, 2010, Gould, 2005).

In addition, Gas6/Axl signaling is involved in promoting survival in ECs and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (D'Arcangelo, 2006, Healy, 2001, Melaragno, 2004, Nakano, 1996). In ECs, Axl-mediated activation of PI3K results in subsequent phosphorylation and activation of the Akt pathway which promotes cellular survival via the transcription factor NF-KB, increased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 as well as inhibition of pro-apoptotic Caspase-3 activation (Hasanbasic, 2004). Similarly, survival in VSMCs is mediated through the PI3K/Akt pathway (Melaragno, 2004). In a mouse model of vascular injury, Gas6/Axl signaling was shown to be increased in vascular neointima, and Axl expression was induced by thrombin and angiotensin II (Melaragno, 1998). In a later study, the role of Axl was studied in oxidative stress-mediated vascular remodeling, and Axl was shown to be an important mediator of intima proliferation by activating the Akt pathway (Konishi, 2004). Similarly, in a model of flow-induced vascular remodeling, Axl-deficient mice were shown to have thinner intima and media, increased apoptosis, and fewer VSMCs, macrophages, and neutrophils (Korshunov, 2006). In the context of vascular remodeling, Axl seems to protect VSMCs from apoptosis and promotes intima and media thickening, and it also plays a role in the increased secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Gerloff, 2012).

The Gas6/Axl system has also been shown to play a role in atherosclerosis (Lutgens, 2008, Ming Cao, 2001). Gas6/Axl signaling in VSMCs induces expression of the class A scavenger receptor (SRA) that mediates the uptake of lipids and thereby enables the formation of foam cells and atherosclerotic plaques (Ming Cao, 2001). Moreover, Gas6 is expressed in ECs, VSMCs, and macrophages of atherosclerotic plaques, and Gas6 deficiency is associated with increased plaque stability, and fewer plaque-associated macrophages as well as decreased inflammation (Lutgens, 2008).

Gas6/Axl signaling has been reported to inhibit vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor 2-mediated angiogenesis as well as chemotaxis stimulated by VEGF-A (Gallicchio, 2005). In contrast, Axl has been reported to be an essential mediator of VEGF-A-dependent activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, which induces EC

migration, vascular permeability and angiogenesis (Ruan, 2012). Moreover, knockdown of Axl in primary human umbilical vein ECs (HUVECs) caused a significant decrease in endothelial tube formation, indicating a role for Axl in EC morphogenesis (Li, 2009). In addition, lactate has been shown to induce ligand-dependent stimulation of Axl, VEGF receptor 2 as well as Tie2, resulting in activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, tube formation and vessel sprouting (Ruan, 2013).

Axl in cancer

Axl was originally identified as a transforming gene, and its expression has since been confirmed in a large number of human cancers (Graham, 2014, O'Bryan, 1991). For example, overexpression of Axl has been reported in squamous cell carcinoma, nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), myeloid leukemia, prostate cancer, osteosarcoma, and ocular melanoma (Brand, 2015, Linger, 2013, Neubauer, 1994, Paccez, 2013, Tian, 2014, van Ginkel, 2004). Moreover, increased Axl expression has been associated with worsened prognosis in several cancer types, such as RCC, squamous cell carcinoma, and ocular melanoma (Brand, 2015, Gustafsson, 2009, van Ginkel, 2004). In cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, Axl expression seems to be associated to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process involved in the initiation of metastasis, and resistance to chemotherapy (Cichon, 2014). In a xenograft study of NSCLC, Axl knockdown was associated with reduced tumor growth and improved response to chemotherapy (Linger, 2013). High Axl expression has also been reported to be associated with decreased survival in breast cancer (Gjerdrum, 2010). Chromosomal amplifications and translocations as well as point mutations of Axl have been reported, however genetic aberrations of Axl are rather uncommon and have not been extensively studied (Graham, 2014).

The role of Axl in cancer metastasis seems to be linked to its role in EMT and cellular migration and invasion. In breast cancer, Axl is induced upon EMT by Vimentin, a protein associated to mesenchymal phenotype, and knockdown of Axl inhibited metastasis in a xenograft model, and in addition, Vimentin-induced Axl confers a migratory phenotype in non-malignant mammary epithelial cells (Gjerdrum, 2010, Vuoriluoto, 2011). Moreover, Axl expression seems to be able to induce expression of EMT markers in breast epithelial cells (Asiedu, 2014). Similarly, Axl expression is associated with migration and invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma *in vitro*, and Gas6/Axl signaling promotes expression of Slug, a protein involved in EMT which seems to mediate Axl-dependent invasion(Lee, 2014). In addition, Gas6 signaling through Axl has been linked to dormancy in the bone marrow, and resistance to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in PCa (Shiozawa, 2010, Taichman, 2013).

As previously mentioned, Axl expression seems to be supported by hypoxic conditions. In clear cell RCC (ccRCC) cell lines, Axl expression is associated with loss of the VHL tumor suppressor, and the HIF transcription factors, which are negatively regulated by VHL, directly activate Axl transcription (Gustafsson, 2009, Rankin, 2014). Similarly, Gas6-mediated downregulation of Axl has been shown to be inhibited in PCa cells under hypoxic conditions (Mishra, 2012). In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), AML cells have been shown to induce expression of Gas6 by bone marrow-derived stromal cells, and the stroma-derived Gas6 stimulates AML cell proliferation, survival, and chemoresistance *via* Axl (Ben-Batalla, 2013). Axl has also been indicated to be involved in regulating the secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators from tumor-associated macrophages in a model of breast cancer (Ye, 2010).

In addition to its roles in tumor growth, apoptosis resistance and metastasis, Axl seems to be involved in acquired resistance to targeted therapies in cancer. In NSCLC, Axl expression was shown to be increased in cells resistant to Gefitinib and Erlotinib treatment, inhibitors of EGFR, and similarly, Axl expression was increased in NSCLC and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma with acquired resistance to another EGFR inhibitor, Cetuximab (Bae, 2015, Brand, 2014, Zhang, 2012). Moreover, Axl expression seems to predict response to EGFR-targeted therapies (Byers, 2013, Meyer, 2013).

The increasing evidence supporting a role for Axl in various human cancers has lead to the development of different Axl inhibitors, for experimental use, and also for potential use in the clinic. Moreover, recent findings identifying Axl to be involved in acquired resistance to targeted therapies in several cancer types, as well as its role in mediating responsiveness to chemotherapy, indicate a potential use of targeted Axl therapies as a means to overcome drug resistance, and also as a complement to chemotherapies (Linger, 2010, Wu, 2014). For example, a monoclonal Axl-targeting antibody was shown to reduce tumor growth in xenograft models of breast cancer and NSCLC, and in addition the antibody was shown to reduce secretion of inflammatory molecules and to improve the effect of anti-VEGF therapy, EGFR inhibitor therapy and chemotherapy (Ye, 2010). Similarly, a small molecule inhibitor of Axl has been shown to reduce metastasis, angiogenesis, and proinflammatory cytokine secretion, and to improve survival in xenograft models of metastatic breast cancer (Holland, 2010). An inhibitor of Axl is currently going through clinical trials (Sheridan, 2013).

microRNAs

MicroRNAs are short, approximately 23 nucleotides (nt) long, non-coding RNA strands, that can act as post-transcriptional regulators of mRNA transcripts (Bartel, 2009). The first microRNA was identified in 1993 in a study aimed at determining the role of the lin-4 gene in regulation of LIN-14 in C. elegans, where the lin-4 gene was found to produce two short non-coding RNA transcripts with sequence complementarity to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the LIN-14 mRNA transcript (Lee, 1993). A few years later, lin-4 was found to also regulate the expression of another protein, LIN-28, again by sequence complementarity in the 3' UTR of the LIN-28 mRNA transcript (Moss, 1997). After its discovery, the lin-4 microRNA remained a unique finding for several years, and it was not until a second microRNA, let-7, was discovered in 2000 that microRNAs were recognized as an important non-coding part of the genome (Bartel, 2004, Reinhart, 2000). Since then, microRNAs have been found to be expressed in plants, viruses and animals, including mammals, and they have been shown to take part in many cellular processes such as proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation, in the organism development and in the pathogenesis of many diseases (Eulalio, 2008). For example, microRNA has been shown to play a role in inflammatory bowel disease, myocardial infarction, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), atherosclerosis, and in a large number of human cancers (Boon, 2015, Chapman, 2015, Hata, 2015, Hayes, 2014, Hosin, 2014, Volonte, 2015).

Expression and regulation of microRNAs

Many microRNAs are evolutionally conserved, and they are expressed in distinct patterns during development and play a role in regulation of basic cellular processes as well as specialized processes that enable cellular tissue specificity (Lee, 2007). For example, the lin-4 microRNA plays a key role in regulating LIN-28 expression in specific stages in the development of *C. elegans*, and removal of the lin-4 complementary sequence in the 3' UTR of LIN-28 causes a retarded phenotype (Moss, 1997). Similarly, let-7 has been shown to regulate the expression of the LIN-41 protein in *C. elegans*, which plays a key role in regulating the developmental

timing in order to onset the expression of adult specialization transcription factors in the cell (Slack, 2000). In a study using transgenic microRNA reporter zebra fish, certain microRNAs were shown to be expressed in specific tissues during embryonic development, with overlapping expression of predicted target mRNAs, and with a general pattern of decreased target mRNA expression in microRNA-expressing cells, although expression of some mRNA targets was found to be increased (Shkumatava, 2009). It is noteworthy that the appearance of the microRNA pathway seems to be simultaneous with the appearance of multicellular organisms in the evolution, and it has been proposed that microRNAs could enable diverse cell specialization, as the diversity of microRNA expression correlates with cell speciation (Lee, 2007).

MicroRNAs are encoded in the genome and are expressed in a stepwise process that is subject to regulation on multiple levels (Hata, 2015). First, a primary transcript (primiRNA) is transcribed from the microRNA-encoding gene by RNA polymerase II, which is then processed in the nucleus by a complex of Drosha, a ribonuclease III type enzyme, and its cofactor, DGCR8, into a hairpin precursor microRNA (premiRNA) (Hata, 2015). The pre-miRNA is dependent on the Exportin-5/RanGTP complex for transport out of the nucleus into the cytoplasm, where GTP is hydrolyzed, the complex is disassembled, and the pre-miRNA is released into the cytosol (Ha, 2014). Finally, in the last step of microRNA maturation, another ribonuclease, Dicer, cleaves the pre-miRNA into a single-stranded, mature microRNA.

In the cytosolic maturation process, Dicer complexes with a double strand RNAbinding protein (dsRBD), the TAR RNA-binding protein (TRBP), which seems to modulate the efficiency by which the pre-miRNAs are processed into mature microRNAs as well as tuning of the length of mature microRNAs (Ha, 2014). Dicer has also been shown to bind a dsRBD cofactor, PACT, whose role in microRNA processing remains unknown (Ha, 2014). In *Drosophila*, the TRBP homologs seem to be essential for maturation of most microRNAs; in contrast, purified mammalian Dicer function has been shown to be comparable to that of Dicer-dsRBD complexes (Lee, 2006). Dicer also interacts with the Argonaute 2 (Ago2) protein, and TRBP to form the RISC-loading complex (RLC) which is essential for efficient transfer of matured microRNA strands to Ago2 (Wang, 2009). In the RLC complex, TRBP has been shown to be essential for the transfer of microRNA strands in complex with Dicer to Ago2, and the subsequent assembly of the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) which enables gene regulation by the mature microRNA (Chendrimada, 2005).





Although the exact structure of RISC remains to be elucidated, it is clear that the main catalytic activity of the complex resides in the Argonaute proteins, as a complex, called the minimal RISC, containing purified Ago2 and a siRNA strand is sufficient to cleave target RNAs (Rivas, 2005). Argonaute proteins have numerous binding partner proteins and seem to form a variety of complexes, which is supported by the variety in size of isolated RISC complexes, ranging from relatively small complexes at around 150 kDa, to molecular complexes which can be as large as 8 MDa (Pratt, 2009). The mechanisms by which microRNAs bind to and regulate target mRNA strands will be further discussed below.

Regulation of microRNAs occurs at several levels. For example, cell fate-determining signaling pathways, such as estrogen receptor signaling, transforming growth factor β (TGF β) signaling, the MAPK pathway, and the p53-mediated DNA damage response, affect the overall and specific biogenesis of microRNAs (Olive, 2015). In addition, expression of microRNAs can be directly induced by transcription factors, as with the miR-34 family which is directly transactivated by the tumor suppressor p53, and the expression of these microRNAs has been found to be epigenetically inactivated by CpG methylation in the promoter region of the microRNA gene in cancer (Vogt, 2011).

Processing of nuclear pri-miRNAs is subject to regulation by RNA-binding proteins such as DDX5 and DDX17, which bind to Drosha-DGCR8 to function as restricted promoting factors which are important for the processing of specific pri-microRNA subsets (Shen, 2015). For example, in p53-mediated damage response and in TGF β mediated responses, DDX5 binds to the Drosha-DGCR8 complex and enhances the processing of specific microRNA clusters or a specific microRNA, respectively (Shen, 2015). In fact, each step in the microRNA processing machinery is subject to posttranslational regulation and/or modulating protein interactions (Hata, 2015). In addition, the microRNA molecule itself carries intrinsic regulatory elements such as nucleotide sequences and structures that can affect both the biogenesis and the stability of the microRNA (Ha, 2014). Examples of such elements are single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) which can affect both microRNA biogenesis and target repression activity, RNA editing by adenosine deaminases which can disturb the interaction between the microRNA and Drosha, RNA methylation, and regulation of RNA stability by nucleases that cleave pre-miRNAs or RNA strands that bind to and destabilize specific microRNAs (Ha, 2014).

MicroRNA – mRNA interactions and post-transcriptional regulation

In humans, more than 400 different microRNAs, and more than 45,000 predicted microRNA target sites in human mRNA 3' UTRs, have been identified, and furthermore, each microRNA can potentially regulate a large number of mRNA targets (Bartel, 2009, Friedman, 2009, Lim, 2005). Most commonly, microRNAs bind to target mRNA transcripts via 5' canonical seed sequence sites, known as the 7mer-A1 site, the 7mer-m8 site and the 8mer site (Bartel, 2009). These canonical sites rely on complementarity between nucleotides 2-7 in the microRNA and the seed match region in the target mRNA, along with additional flanking nucleotide paring (Bartel, 2009). Furthermore, another type of seed sequence matching, the marginal sites, is characterized by binding to the target mRNA by 6mer-matching of nucleotides 2-7 or 3-8 in the microRNA, which generally is less efficient than 7mer or 8mer sites (Bartel, 2009). Less commonly, microRNAs can bind to mRNAs in socalled atypical sites, with 7mer, or 7mer with a central mismatch, primary seed match sites and a microRNA 3' supplementary or compensatory site, respectively, which increases the efficiency of the functional site (Bartel, 2009). In addition to matching of the microRNA-mRNA via seed sequences, the context of the 3' UTR of the target mRNA seems to have impact on the efficacy of regulation by microRNAs, as mRNAs containing identical 3' UTR seed sequences can be differently regulated (Bartel, 2009).

Other features that boost site efficiency and thereby translational regulation are AUrich elements situated close to the seed sequence, positioning at least 15 nt from the 3' UTR stop codon, off-center positioning in long 3' UTRs, proximity to seed sequences of coexpressed microRNAs, and additional pairing to nucleotides 13-16 in the microRNA (Grimson, 2007). In addition to the most commonly occurring targeting of 3' UTRs, microRNAs have also been shown to be able to efficiently repress expression of mRNAs by binding to target sites introduced in the 5' UTR, and targeting can also occur in the open reading frames (ORFs) of mRNA transcripts (Baek, 2008, Lewis, 2005, Lytle, 2007). In addition, interaction of microRNAs with gene promoters has been demonstrated (Zardo, 2012).

The mechanisms by which microRNAs regulate gene expression are diverse; target recognition can result in translational repression by inhibition of translation elongation, by promoting premature ribosome dissociation, by preventing initiation of translation, and by deadenylation of mRNA transcripts (Eulalio, 2008). In addition, microRNAs can act in the opposite manner and activate translation (Lee, 2013). For example, the mouse miR-34a and miR-34b have been shown to be able to increase the translational efficiency of an alternatively adenylated β -actin mRNA

transcript, and mutation or blocking of the 3' UTR seed sequence markedly reduces protein expression (Ghosh, 2008). However, microRNAs are thought to most commonly act to repress translation, primarily through destabilization of mRNA transcripts (Baek, 2008, Eichhorn, 2014, Guo, 2010).

Apart from the impacting factors discussed above, the functional outcome of microRNA-mediated gene regulation is highly dependent on the cellular context. For example, miR-34a, which is primarily known as a tumor suppressor microRNA, exerts tumor suppressive functions in neuroblastoma, but in contrast seems to support proliferation of rat renal proximal tubule cells and is overexpressed in several cancer types (Dutta, 2007). In line with this finding, it was recently reported that microRNA-mediated regulation is affected by the abundance of target mRNA transcripts (Arvey, 2010). Moreover, in a study analyzing single cells, target repression varied dramatically between individual cells and microRNAs were found to establish mRNA threshold levels at which protein production can be readily repressed, enabling microRNAs to act both as a fine-tuner as well as a switch of gene expression (Mukherji, 2011).

It is noteworthy that some microRNA families exhibit sequential redundancy, especially microRNA families involved in development, and revealing the functional implications of these microRNA families requires removal of the redundancy, at least in part (Olive, 2015).

MicroRNAs in cancer

Dysregulation of microRNAs has been reported in a broad range of human cancers. While some microRNAs act as tumor suppressors, other microRNAs are highly expressed in cancers and exert pro-oncogenic functions, hence they are called oncomiRs (Esquela-Kerscher, 2006, Ma, 2008). Because of their roles as tumor suppressor and oncogenes, microRNAs have been identified as potential tools for diagnosis and prognosis of human cancers, and also as potential targets for therapeutic intervention (Metias, 2009). Some, but not all, microRNAs are released into bodily fluids, such as urine and in the bloodstream, and therefore present a potential noninvasive method of cancer diagnosis and prognosis (Khoury, 2015). For example, in a recent report, three different microRNA panels were identified as diagnostic and prognostic markers in the serum of human PCa patients and patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) (Haldrup, 2014). MicroRNAs found in tumor tissue and cells have also been found to be useful as prognostic and diagnostic tools, for example in PCa where a four-microRNA ratio, the miQ, was shown to be a powerful prognostic marker as well as a diagnostic tool to predict tumor aggressiveness, metastasis and overall survival (Larne, 2013). Similarly, the expression of a single microRNA, miR-21, has been correlated to decreased survival and lymph node metastasis, and is an independent prognostic factor in human primary breast cancer (Yan, 2008). In addition, tumor microRNAs have been shown to be powerful tools to classify cancer tumors (Lu, 2005).

The miR-34 family

The miR-34 family comprises three similar microRNAs, miR-34a, miR-34b, and miR-34c, which are located at two different sites in the genome; miR-34a is found on chromosome 1p36, whereas miR-34b and miR-34c are located on chromosome 11q23 (Hermeking, 2010). Studies in mice have revealed that miR-34a is ubiquitously expressed, whereas miR-34b and miR-34c are primarily expressed in lungs, which is the only tissue where miR-34b/c expression exceeds miR-34a expression (Misso, 2014).

The members of the miR-34 family are directly regulated by p53, and function as tumor suppressors by regulating the expression of genes that control apoptosis, cell cycle and proliferation (Bommer, 2007, Chang, 2007, Corney, 2007). The p53 transcription factor is activated upon cellular stress, such as DNA damage or hypoxia, and initiates expression of a wide array of genes (Sax, 2014). Dysregulation of the p53 network is frequently found in human cancers, such as mutations that prevent p53 from binding to specific target DNA sequences, but also aberrations of p53-regulating

factors, mislocalization of p53 into the cytoplasm, and viral infections where viral oncogenes interfere with p53 (Vogelstein, 2000). Moreover, the miR-34 family has been reported to be independently inactivated via methylation of CpG islands in the promoter region, rendering these microRNAs irresponsive to transcriptional activation by p53 (Lodygin, 2008, Vogt, 2011). Interestingly, the epigenetic inactivation of miR-34 family members seems to be mutually exclusive with p53 mutations, indicating that inactivation of miR-34a/b/c expression could be an alternative route to loss of p53-mediated regulation of cellular processes (Vogt, 2011). The miR-34 family members have been shown to negatively regulate target genes that are anti-apoptotic, such as BCL2 and SIRT1, genes that promote proliferation and growth, including E2F3, Notch2 and CREB, genes that are involved in migration and invasion, such as MET and SNAIL, as well as stemness-promoting genes like NANOG and SOX2 (Agostini, 2014). Moreover, miR-34a has been found to target CD24 and Scr, proteins involved in tumorigenesis (Muppala, 2013). Decreased expression of miR-34 family members has been observed in several types of cancer, for example in pancreatic cancer, NSCLC, bladder cancer, and in PCa (Bommer, 2007, Catto, 2011, Chang, 2007, Hagman, 2010).

The implications of the microRNA-34 family in cancer has indicated that miR-34 mimics potentially could be used in treating human cancers, and in fact, a miR-34 analog is the first microRNA-based therapeutic to enter phase I clinical trials for liver cancer (Agostini, 2014).

Interestingly, miR-34a has been shown to be a negative regulator of Axl expression by direct binding to the 3' UTR of the Axl mRNA transcript in NSCLC, colorectal cancer and breast cancer (Mackiewicz, 2011, Mudduluru, 2011). Moreover, Axl expression was shown to correlate inversely with miR-34a expression in NSCLC, colorectal cancer and breast cancer cell lines, and in breast cancer tumor tissue (Mackiewicz, 2011, Mudduluru, 2011). In addition, miR-34a has recently been reported to directly regulate Axl in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Boysen, 2014).

The role of the miR-34 family members in PCa and RCC will be further discussed in the respective sections below.

miR-21

The miR-21 is one of the most well-known oncomiRs, and overexpression of miR-21 has been reported in a large number of human cancers, including lung cancer, glioblastoma, breast cancer, PCa, and B-cell lymphoma (Selcuklu, 2009, Zhu, 2014). The gene for miR-21 is located within the TMEM49 gene, and is independently transcribed from two promoter regions with conserved elements such as binding sites

for AP-1 and STAT3 (Kumarswamy, 2011). Expression of miR-21 has been reported to be induced by IL-6 via the STAT3 transcription factor, and targets the tumor suppressor PTEN and in addition seems to be involved in activating an epigenetic switch to activate a positive feedback loop to maintain a transformed state in a transformed breast epithelial cell line (Iliopoulos, 2010). Interestingly, miR-21 expression is triggered by inflammatory stimuli, primarily in bone-marrow derived cells, where miR-21 seems to be involved in resolution of the inflammatory response, as LPS-induced miR-21 expression in macrophages has been associated with decreased pro-inflammatory signaling and resolved inflammation (Sheedy, 2015). The complexity of miR-21 function in the regulation of inflammation is further illustrated by the fact that miR-21 overexpression has been reported in diseases associated with impaired immune responses, such as asthma, psoriasis and chronic viral and bacterial infections, as well as with diseases characterized by chronic inflammation such as atherosclerosis, SLE, and colitis (Sheedy, 2015). In the cardiovascular system, miR-21 is highly expressed, and dysregulated miR-21 expression has been reported in several cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction, and moreover, miR-21 expression in VSMCs is associated with increased proliferation and survival (Cheng, 2010).

High expression of miR-21 is associated with poor prognosis in human cancers including NSCLC, breast cancer and RCC (Faragalla, 2012, Markou, 2008, Yan, 2008). For example, miR-21 is frequently overexpressed in breast cancer tissues and experimental inhibition suppresses growth of breast cancer cell lines *in vitro* as well as in tumor xenografts *in vivo* (Si, 2007). Moreover, reexpression of miR-21 in a breast cancer cell line was associated with increased expression of EMT markers, increased expression of cancer stem cell surface markers, and increased sphere formation ability, which is associated with stem cell characteristics (Han, 2012).

In cancer, miR-21 has been shown to target tumor suppressor genes, for example PTEN in hepatocellular carcinoma and RCC, and the programmed cell death 4 (PDCD4) gene in breast cancer and colorectal cancer (Asangani, 2008, Dey, 2012, Lu, 2008, Meng, 2007). In breast and colon cancer, miR-21 expression has been shown to be indirectly induced by the adhesion molecule CD24, an effect that can be inhibited by miR-34a-mediated downregulation of CD24 and its mediator Src (Muppala, 2013). Moreover, miR-21 seems to be involved metastasis, as demonstrated by decreased lung metastasis and intravasation of colorectal cancer cells in a chicken embryo metastasis assay where miR-21 had been inhibited (Asangani, 2008). A role for miR-21 in tumor angiogenesis has also been indicated, as miR-21 expression in PCa cells has been shown to be associated with increased expression of VEGF and HIF1 α and increased tumor angiogenesis (Liu, 2011). Further discussion of miR-21 and its role in RCC can be found in the section discussing the kidneys and RCC.
miR-10b

The miR-10b is most commonly recognized as an oncomiR, and has been found to be overexpressed in glioblastoma, NSCLC, breast cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Gabriely, 2011, Lu, 2014). The miR-10b gene is located within the HOXD cluster on chromosome 2, in-between the HOXD4 and HOXD8 genes (Biagioni, 2013).

Increased expression of miR-10b has been reported in metastatic breast cancer cell lines, and overexpression of miR-10b in non-invasive breast cancer cell lines promoted invasion and metastasis (Ma, 2007). Furthermore, expression of miR-10b correlated with clinical progression in breast cancer patients (Ma, 2007). In contrast, another study reported that miR-10b was downregulated in breast cancer (Iorio, 2005). In addition, downregulation of miR-10b has been shown in primary and metastatic colorectal carcinoma (CRC), and in ccRCC (Pizzini, 2013, Wotschofsky, 2012). Moreover, miR-10b has been indicated to be downregulated by CpG methylation in gastric cancer, and miR-10b overexpression was associated with reduced migration, invasion and proliferation, and induction of apoptosis, and miR-10b has been proposed to function as a tumor suppressor in gastric cancer (Kim, 2014, Li, 2015). Moreover, retinoic acid-induced differentiation of neuroblastoma cell lines, resulting in reduced proliferation and less aggressive cell behavior, was associated with increased miR-10b expression and furthermore, miR-10b was shown to be involved in mediation of the differentiated phenotype (Meseguer, 2011).

Increased expression of miR-10b has also been associated with congenital heart defects, and miR-10b has been shown to negatively regulate the TBX5 transcription factor which is involved in cardiac development in the embryo (Wang, 2014).

Most mRNAs that have been validated as targets of miR-10b are tumor suppressor genes, such as KLF4 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, HOXD10 in breast cancer, and E-cadherin in NSCLC (Ma, 2007, Tian, 2010, Zhang, 2015). In breast cancer, miR-10b expression has been reported to be induced by TGF β , and miR-10b seems to take part in mediating EMT induced by TGF β (Han, 2014). The effects of miR-10b expression seem to be cell-type dependent, as miR-10b expression promotes invasion and metastasis in breast cancer, while miR-10b-rexpressing glioblastoma cells are characterized by increased proliferation and resistance to apoptosis (Gabriely, 2011). The role of miR-10b in RCC will be further discussed in the respective section below.

The kidneys and renal cell carcinoma

blod with wate blod without wate ureter

The kidneys

Figure 5

The human kidney. Reprinted with the permission Encyclopaedia Britannica.

The main functions of the kidneys are removal of waste and foreign materials from the blood stream into the urine, to regulate the acid-base balance, electrolyte concentration, and blood pressure, and to reabsorb glucose and amino acids from the primary urine as well as producing hormones, such as erythropoietin (Epo), and Vitamin D production (Cotran, 2005, Widmaier, 2006). The kidneys take up approximately 20% of the cardiac blood output and receive blood through the renal arteries which branch out form the abdominal aorta (Boron, 2004).



Figure 6

The human renal corpsule and the nephron. Reprinted with the permission Encyclopaedia Britannica.

The kidneys are protected by the fibrous renal capsule, which in turn is surrounded by perirenal fat, forming an adipose capsule, the renal fascia, which encapsulates the kidneys and the adrenal glands in connective tissue, and on the outside of the capsule, paranephric fat. On the inside, the kidney is divided into two major structures, the renal cortex, and the renal medulla. The renal cortex is organized into pyramidshaped structures, where the renal corpsule, in which blood ultrafiltration occurs, can be found. The renal tubules extend down through the renal medulla, where they are connected to the collecting ducts, which lead the urine into the ureter and subsequently into the urine bladder. The cortex- and medulla-spanning tubules, known as nephrons, form a distinct structure capable of efficient blood filtration, removal of waste and reabsorption of nutrients. Blood filtration begins in the glomeruli, situated in the Bowman's capsule inside the renal cortex, where approximately 20% of the water in the blood plasma passing the glomeruli is filtrated out along with solutes present. The filtrate then passes through the proximal convoluted tubule, where the brush border, which is lined with epithelial cells specialized in resorption, can be found. Subsequently, the filtrate passes through Henle's loop which helps concentrating the urine using an urea concentration gradient which draws out water from the urine filtrate (Widmaier, 2006). Some nephrons, known as juxtamedullar nephrons, span deeper into the renal medulla and

have collecting blood capillaries, vasa recta, that are intertwined with Henle's loop and are supplied with reabsorbed substances from the nephron. Finally, the filtrate passes the distal convoluted tubule, which take part in regulation of pH and electrolyte concentration.

Renal cell carcinoma

RCC is the most common type of cancer in the kidney, and it accounts for approximately 2-3% of all cancer cases in adults (Escudier, 2012). In Europe, more than 88,000 individuals are diagnosed with RCC each year, and almost 40,000 patients die from RCC yearly (Ljungberg, 2010). The prevalence of RCC is slightly higher in men than in women, about 60% off RCC cases are in men, and the peak age of diagnosis is between 60 and 70 years (Ljungberg, 2010). The incidence of RCC in the world has been increasing with approximately 2% yearly until recently (Ljungberg, 2010). A small portion, around 2-3%, of all RCC cases are hereditary and are caused by inherited mutations in VHL, c-Met, fumarate hydratase, or in the folliculin gene (Weikert, 2010).

RCC is further classified into subtypes, of which clear cell RCC (ccRCC), papillary RCC (pRCC), and chromophobe RCC (chRCC) are the most commonly occurring (Lopez-Beltran, 2009). Of the RCC subtypes, ccRCC is by far the most common, accounting for around 75% of all RCC cases (Cohen, 2005, Lopez-Beltran, 2009). Papillary RCC is much more common in men than in women, and has a 5-year survival of approximately 90%, however the prognosis of patients with metastatic pRCC is poor (Cohen, 2005). Around 75% of all sporadic pRCC cases are characterized by duplications of chromosome 7 (Cohen, 2005). Chromophobe RCC is thought to arise from a cell type in the collecting ducts called type B intercalated cells (Cohen, 2005). Clear cell RCC has overall worse prognosis than pRCC and chRCC, and is often characterized by mutations in the tumor suppressor VHL gene (Lopez-Beltran, 2009). VHL mutations are found in approximately 60% of ccRCC cases, and loss of VHL allows hypoxia-inducible genes to be overexpressed, favoring epithelial cell proliferation (Cohen, 2005).

As of today, surgery is the only curative treatment for RCC, in localized RCC most commonly by nephron-sparing procedures aimed at removing the tumor while allowing the kidney to remain functional, at least in part (Ljungberg, 2010). Patients with metastatic RCC are treated with systemic therapeutics, for example immunotherapy with IFN α and IL-2, which have a response rate of around 6-15% and 7-27%, respectively (Ljungberg, 2010). In addition, targeted therapies are used, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as Sorafenib and Sunitinib, as well as anti-

VEGF therapy with Bevacizumab, and mTOR inhibitors such as Temsirolimus (Abe, 2013).

The disease-specific 5-year survival of patients with localized RCC is approximately 90%, with decreasing survival for patients with more advanced disease (Novara, 2010). Although targeted therapies have improved the survival of RCC patients, the prognosis of patients with metastatic RCC remains poor with a 5-year survival of less than 10% (Abe, 2013, Ljungberg, 2010). Approximately 25% of all patients do not respond when treated with targeted therapies, and in addition some patients who initially respond eventually develop resistance (Bielecka, 2014).

The main prognostic tool for RCC is the Tumor-Node-Metastasis (TNM) staging system (Ljungberg, 2010, Wittekind, 2002). In addition, factors such as histological grade, tumor size and presence of necrosis have been shown to be useful in assessing the prognosis, and prognostic systems and nomograms that combine different independent prognostic factors have been developed, such as the SSIGN score which is based on TNM stage, tumor size, grade and necrosis (Frank, 2002, Fuhrman, 1982, Leibovich, 2003).

Axl and Gas6 in the kidney and RCC

Gas6 and Axl are expressed in the kidney, and increased expression of Gas6 and/or Axl seems to be associated with several inflammatory renal diseases (Fiebeler, 2004). In mesangial cells, specialized kidney VSMCs that often have a proliferative phenotype in glomerular disease, Gas6 stimulation of Axl results in Axl phosphorylation and cellular proliferation, and this effect seems to be dependent of proper y-carboxylation of Gas6 (Yanagita, 1999). Moreover, in a model of induced glomerulonephritis, both Axl and Gas6 were upregulated and were associated with the progression of mesangial cell proliferation, an effect that could be inhibited by administration of Warfarin, which inhibits Vitamin K-dependent y-carboxylation, or by administration of Axl-Fc (Yanagita, 2001). Later, the same group reported that the effects of Gas6 stimulation on mesangial cell proliferation were mediated by the STAT3 transcription factor (Yanagita, 2001). In addition, in a mouse model of nephrotoxic nephritis, mortality as well as the progression of glomerular disease were decreased in Gas6-deficient mice (Yanagita, 2002). Similarly, increased Gas6 and Axl expression were observed in the glomeruli of rats with induced diabetic nephropathy, but not in Gas6-deficient rats, and Warfarin administration could inhibit mesangial and glomerular hypertrophy (Nagai, 2003). Later, it was reported that Gas6 activates AKT and mTOR signaling in glomerular hypertrophy, and that high glucose treatment could induce Gas6/Axl expression in mesangial cells, resulting in mesangial hypertrophy in a Gas6-dependent manner (Nagai, 2005). Increased expression of

Gas6 has also been observed in a rat model of chronic renal rejection after kidney transplantation, however this was accompanied by high expression of Tyro3 rather than Axl (Yin, 2002). In a later study of human specimens of chronic renal transplant rejection, Gas6 expression was found to be increased in acute tubular necrosis as well as in acute transplant reject, and increased expression of Axl was observed in acute tubular necrosis whereas differential expression of the other TAM receptors could not be detected (Yin, 2003). Increased Gas6 expression has also been observed in humans with chronic kidney disease (CKD), however in a mouse model of CKD, Gas6/Axl signaling was reported to a protective mechanism, associated with slower progression to renal failure (Hyde, 2014, Lee, 2012).

In the light of the reported differential expression of Gas6 and Axl in kidney disease, it is noteworthy that there is a well-established connection between renal disease and the risk of developing kidney cancer (Russo, 2012).

Axl is expressed in RCC tumors, and high expression of Axl, or low expression of Gas6, correlates with poor prognosis in RCC (Chung, 2003, Gustafsson, 2009). Moreover, Axl mRNA expression levels in the tumor have been shown to be an independent prognostic factor in RCC (Gustafsson, 2009). In VHL-deficient ccRCC cell lines, Axl expression is high and seems to be post-transcriptionally regulated by VHL, as reconstitution of VHL results in decreased expression of Axl protein, but not Axl mRNA (Gustafsson, 2009). Similarly, Axl could be linked to direct transcriptional regulation by VHL in a study using proteomic and transcriptional profiling approaches to compare VHL-positive and -negative ccRCC cells (Boysen, 2012). Moreover, HIF1 and HIF2, which are negatively regulated by VHL, have been shown to directly bind to the hypoxia-responsive element in the Axl promoter, and inactivation of Axl in metastatic ccRCC cells reversed the metastatic phenotype in vivo and reduced invasion in vitro (Rankin, 2014). In ccRCC tumors, Axl is expressed both in tumor cells and in endothelial cells, and epithelial Axl expression correlated with poor prognosis, whereas high endothelial expression of Axl correlated with high nuclear differentiation grade (Boysen, 2012). Interestingly, short-term stimulation of Axl by Gas6 in ccRCC cell lines is associated with initial Axl phosphorylation, followed by downregulation of Axl protein, and Gas6-stimulated ccRCC cells exhibit decreased cell viability, and decreased migratory capacity which seemed to be dependent on Axl (Gustafsson, 2009). Similarly, siRNA-mediated knockdown of Axl been associated with G0/G1 cell cycle arrest, however the effect of Gas6 was not studied in this context (Chung, 2003).

The miR-34 family in RCC

As previously mentioned, the miR-34 family members are primarily considered to be tumor suppressor microRNAs. However, the reports on miR-34, in particular miR-34a, expression in RCC are contrasting. In several studies aimed at identifying differentially expressed microRNAs in ccRCC, miR-34a was found to be upregulated in tumor specimens (Juan, 2010, Jung, 2009, Liu, 2010, Osanto, 2012, White, 2011, Wu, 2012). In contrast, epigenetic inactivation of both miR-34a and miR-34b/c has been reported in RCC, and decreased expression of miR-34a has also been reported in RCC tumors in a study using RT-qPCR (Vogt, 2011, Zhang, 2014). Low miR-34a expression has also been reported in RCC cell lines, and miR-34a was shown to regulate CD44 in vitro, a cell surface adhesion molecule often upregulated in RCC (Yu, 2014). In addition, miR-34a has been indicated to regulate Notch1 and c-Myc, c-Met, and Bcl2 in RCC in vitro, however, direct regulation of Notch1 by miR-34a was not confirmed by Luciferase assay (Yamamura, 2012, Zhang, 2014). On the other hand, high miR-34a expression was observed in the renal tubules of rats in an experimental model of oxidative stress-induced renal carcinogenesis, and siRNAmediated knockdown reduced proliferation renal carcinoma cells, thus the authors proposed that effects of miR-34a could be cell type-dependent (Dutta, 2007).

It is possible that the contrasting reports on miR-34a expression could be explained by differences in sample size, sample preparation and experimental procedures. However, most of the reports conducted with human tumor samples seem to indicate that miR-34a expression indeed is increased in ccRCC tumors, similar to what we have observed (Paper II). In addition, although Luciferase assays could be used to efficiently prove miRNA-mRNA interactions, these assays are usually performed under relatively synthetic conditions with high concentrations of microRNA and Luciferase-mRNA transcripts which may be rather unrepresentative of physiological conditions. Thus, proving a potential regulation of a mRNA transcript by a microRNA, even if performed in a tissue-specific cell lines, does not automatically imply that this interaction is the primary mode of action by the microRNA in that cell type. Similarly, experiments performed with microRNA mimics or microRNA blockers are usually also conducted at relatively high molecular concentrations, and in addition, the fact that each microRNA usually has numerous targets further aggravates attempts to elucidate microRNA function in a physiological context.

miR-21 in RCC

High expression of miR-21 in ccRCC has been reported by numerous research groups, and miR-21 expression was correlated to worse outcome in the Cancer Genome Atlas study (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2013, Chow, 2010, Huang, 2009, Juan, 2010, Jung, 2009, Osanto, 2012, Wotschofsky, 2012, Wu, 2012). In RCC, miR-21 has been shown to directly regulate TIMP3, a metalloproteinase inhibitor, and Fas ligand, an apoptosis-inducing protein, affecting survival and proliferation (Zhang, 2011). Moreover, miR-21 is a direct negative regulator of the transcription factor TCF21 which drives expression of a member of the metastasis suppressor family, KISS1 (Zhang, 2012). Interestingly, increased levels of miR-21 has been observed in the kidneys and serum of patients with renal fibrosis, which is the end stage for many chronic kidney diseases (Glowacki, 2013, Zarjou, 2011). Expression of miR-21 can be induced by TGFB, which is involved in RCC pathogenesis and metastasis (Bostrom, 2013, Glowacki, 2013, Zarjou, 2011). In the context of renal fibrosis, it is noteworthy that miR-21 has been indicated to be involved in an epigenetic switch linking inflammation to cancer and maintenance of a transformed state, as has previously been mentioned (Iliopoulos, 2010).

miR-10b in RCC

Unlike miR-21, the reports on miR-10b expression in various human cancers are inconsistent. For example, upregulation of miR-10b has been reported in more than 10 human cancers, while downregulation of miR-10b has been reported in melanoma and colon cancer, and in RCCs (Lu, 2014). Similar to our findings (Paper I), decreased expression of miR-10b in ccRCC has been observed by others (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2013, Juan, 2010, Osanto, 2012). Furthermore, decreased expression of miR-10b seems to be associated to metastatic disease, early relapse, and poor prognosis in ccRCC (Heinzelmann, 2011, Khella, 2012, Slaby, 2012, Wotschofsky, 2012, Wu, 2012).

As previously mentioned, miR-10b has been validated to target tumor suppressor genes, and the effects of miR-10b expression are potentially cell-type dependent (Gabriely, 2011, Ma, 2007, Tian, 2010). To date, little is known about the role of miR-10b in ccRCC, and how decreased expression of miR-10b could contribute to the cancer phenotype, however in a recent report, significant downregulation of miR-10b was reported in renal allograft rejection and inhibition of miR-10b in human glomerular cells mimicked the features of allograft rejection (Liu, 2015).

The prostate and prostate cancer

The prostate



Figure 7

The human prostate. Reprinted with the permission Encyclopaedia Britannica.

The prostate is an exocrine gland in the male reproductive system, whose main function is to secrete an alkaline fluid, that together with spermatozoa and seminal vesicle fluid make up the semen (Neil, 2005). The size of the prostate is just larger than a walnut, and it sits just below the urinary bladder, with the urethra and the ejaculatory ducts passing through. The prostate gland can be divided into zones, the peripheral zone, the central zone, which surrounds the ejaculatory ducts, and the transitional zone, lateral to the urethra (Myers, 2000).

Prostate cancer

Prostate cancer is the most common neoplasm in men, and has an incidence rate of around 214 cases per 1000 men in Europe (Heidenreich, 2014, Jemal, 2008). The risk of developing PCa increases over age, which is reflected by the fact that PCa is more common in developed countries, as compared to developing countries (Ferlay, 2010). The 5-year standardized survival of PCa patients is approximately 83%, and patients diagnosed with early-stage PCa have even better survival, close to 100% over a 5-year period (De Angelis, 2014). However, PCa imposes a great economic burden to the healthcare, costing almost 5.5 billion EUR yearly in Europe (Luengo-Fernandez, 2013). In addition, even though the overall survival of PCa patients is high, the 4% of PCa patients that develop metastatic disease face a 5-year survival rate of approximately 30% (Fong, 2012).

PCa can be diagnosed using digital rectal examination, transrectal ultrasound-guided biopsy, and analysis of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) concentration in the serum (Heidenreich, 2014). In general, high PSA levels are associated with increased likelihood of PCa, however not all PCa patients exhibit increased serum PSA (Heidenreich, 2014). The PSA has been debated because of the potential false positive and negative results, and in a systematic review of two large PCa screening studies, no conclusive evidence supporting population-based screening for PCa could be found (Ilic, 2007). Increased PSA levels can also occur in BPH (Chang, 2012). In a randomized study with more than 160,000 European men, the authors concluded that PSA screening does reduce the number of deaths from PCa with 20%, however there is a risk of overdiagnosis associated with the PSA test (Schroder, 2009). To completely diagnose PCa, histological examination of biopsy samples is needed (Heidenreich, 2014). The Gleason scoring system is based on the histological appearance of the prostate tissue, where a low score represents well-differentiated tumors which still have structure similar to healthy prostate, whereas patients with high Gleason score have tumors which in large have lost their glandular structure and are poorly differentiated (Cotran, 2005). The Gleason score also has prognostic significance (Heidenreich, 2014, Rusthoven, 2014). In addition to the Gleason score, TNM staging is used for prognosis and treatment selection, and is based on tumor histology, spread, lymph node involvement, and metastasis status (Cheng, 2012).

For patients with low-risk PCa, therapy may not be needed; instead, active surveillance is recommended for patients with a localized disease, few biopsy samples with confirmed cancer and a Gleason score of 6 or lower (Heidenreich, 2014). Surgical removal of the whole prostate, radical prostectomy (RP), has been found to especially beneficial for patients who are 65 years old or younger, and those who have intermediate or high risk PCa (Heidenreich, 2014). In addition, radiotherapy is used to treat low-risk PCa tumors (Heidenreich, 2014). Treatments for intermediate and

high risk PCa tumors include RP as well as different types of radiotherapy (Heidenreich, 2014).

More than 90% of PCa metastases are found in the bone marrow, and cause great pain and high risk of skeletal complication (Heidenreich, 2014). For the treatment of metastatic PCa tumors, therapeutic androgen deprivation strategies are most commonly used. Androgen deprivation can for example be achieved using agonists of the luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone, which causes testosterone levels to decrease (Heidenreich, 2014). Relapsing PCa after hormone treatment is often referred to as castration-resistant PCa (CRPC), and while some of these will respond to second line therapy targeting the androgen receptor, others are truly hormoneresistant and are resistant to all hormone-targeting therapies (Heidenreich, 2014). Chemotherapeutic agents, such as Docetaxel, are also used in second line treatment of CPRC (Heidenreich, 2014).

Axl and Gas6 in PCa

Axl is overexpressed in PCa cell lines as well as in PCa tumor tissue, where increased Axl expression seems to be associated with the tumor Gleason score (Jacob, 1999, Sainaghi, 2005, Shiozawa, 2010). Gas6 signaling through Axl has been implicated to increase the proliferation of PCa cell lines, and knockdown of Axl has been shown to decrease tumor weight and IL-6 secretion in tumor xenograft models, and decreased cellular growth and survival, migration and invasion in vitro (Paccez, 2013, Sainaghi, 2005). However, another study has indicated that Annexin II, which is abundantly expressed in the bone marrow, induces Axl expression and osteoblast-secreted Gas6, which inhibits growth and prevents chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in PCa cells, possibly to induce dormancy in the bone marrow niche (Shiozawa, 2010). In line with these findings, the same group later presented a report indicating that PCa cells express Axl, and that Gas6 signaling through Axl indeed inhibits the growth of a human PCa cell line (Taichman, 2013). Furthermore, immunofluorescence staining in xenografts indicated that Tyro3 is expressed in primary tumors but not in bone marrow-disseminating cells, and is upregulated upon the formation of metastatic lesions, and conversely, Axl is primarily expressed in the disseminating cells prior to metastasis in vivo (Taichman, 2013). Based on their findings in the xenograft imaging experiments, the authors presented the hypothesis that when Tyro3 expression is equal to or higher than Axl expression, Gas6-mediated signaling promotes cellular proliferation and that possibly, the dynamics in Tyro3/Axl expression could be a mechanism to induce dormancy in the bone marrow (Taichman, 2013). In another study by the same research group, small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated knockdown of Axl in PCa cell lines resulted in decreased expression of several markers of EMT (Mishra, 2012). Moreover, Gas6 stimulation of PCa cells resulted in

downregulation of Axl, similar to what has been observed in RCC cells, and in experiments mimicking hypoxic conditions, Gas6-mediated downregulation of Axl was inhibited (Mishra, 2012).

Axl imaging using radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies has also been proposed as a potential tool to identify patients that could benefit from targeted Axl therapy (Nimmagadda, 2014).

The miR-34 family in PCa

Differential expression of all of the microRNA-34 family members has been reported in PCa (Ambs, 2008, Hagman, 2010, Walter, 2013). Downregulation of miR-34c in PCa correlates with Gleason grade and low expression of miR-34c is associated with worsened prognosis (Hagman, 2010, Tsuchiyama, 2013). Furthermore, miR-34c has been shown to be a direct negative regulator of E2F3, BCL2, and MET, all of which are oncogenes involved in proliferation, survival and metastatic progression, and miR-34c expression correlated inversely with MET expression in PCa tumor tissue (Hagman, 2010, Hagman, 2013). Similar to miR-34c, decreased expression of miR-34a has also been observed in PCa tumors (Ambs, 2008, Hagman, 2010). In PCa miR-34a has been shown to be a negative regulator of SIRT1 expression via interaction with the SIRT1 promoter, and ectopic miR-34a expression in a PCa cell line was associated with growth inhibition, cell cycle arrest, and decreased resistance to apoptosis when the cells were treated with Camptothecin, a drug used in cancer therapy (Fujita, 2008). Later, the same group presented evidence that re-expression of miR-34a also could attenuate resistance to the chemotherapy drug Paclitaxel in a PCa cell line (Kojima, 2010). Moreover, miR-34a has been shown to target CD44, which is associated with cancer stemness and metastasis, in PCa, and in addition systematic treatment with miR-34a decreased metastasis and increased survival in a xenograft study (Liu, 2011). While differential miR-34b expression in PCa has been reported, the results are inconsistent; miR-34b has been indicated to be upregulated in one study, another study reported that miR-34b was downregulated in PCa (Ambs, 2008, Martens-Uzunova, 2012). Also in the case of miR-34a and miR-34c there has been controversing reports, as both miR-34a and miR-34c were reported to be upregulated in PCa tumors in a recent study (Walter, 2013).

The present investigation

Paper I

Introduction

Clear cell renal cell carcinoma is the most common type of cancer in the kidney, and while the prognosis of patients with organ-confined disease is relatively good, patients who develop metastasis face a poor prognosis with a 5-year survival of less than 10% (Cohen, 2005, Novara, 2010, Weikert, 2010). MicroRNAs, short non-coding RNAs, act as post-transcriptional regulators of protein expression by binding to target mRNAs, and more than 30% of the human genome is thought to be regulated by microRNAs (Bartel, 2004, Lewis, 2005). Moreover, dysregulation of microRNA expression has been linked to cancer, and in ccRCC microRNAs have been reported to be differentially expressed in tumor tissues, and microRNA expression signatures have been indicated to be useful prognostic tools (Osanto, 2012, Slaby, 2012, Wotschofsky, 2012, Zaman, 2012). Recently, the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) presented a report where a large number of ccRCC tumor samples were extensively characterized using arrays for mRNA transcripts and microRNAs, as well as protein, DNA methylation, and SNP arrays (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2013). Our aim was to evaluate the prognostic significance of microRNAs identified from the TCGA cohort in a large RCC cohort.

Methods and results

We used biostatistical methods to identify microRNAs associated to patient outcome and disease severity in the TCGA cohort, which is publically available. Candidate microRNAs were selected based on their feasibility to be measured by RT-qPCR, and four candidate microRNAs were subsequently measured in a cohort of 198 RCC tumor samples of which 152 were ccRCC, and 50 normal kidney samples. Using SPSS-based statistics, we evaluated the expression of the candidate microRNAs in RCC subtypes and their association to survival and disease severity. Importantly, we identified a two-microRNA ratio, miR^{21/10b} which correlated significantly with patient

survival, and showed that the miR^{21/10b} is an independent prognostic factor for ccRCC patients without metastasis at the time of diagnosis.

Conclusions and future perspectives

In this report we presented a microRNA ratio which could provide additional diagnostic information for metastasis-free ccRCC patients. The concept of a microRNA ratio, or a microRNA index quota, is relatively novel and has several advantages as it eliminates the need for housekeeping genes in the RT-qPCR reaction, it may amplify the prognostic impact of a single microRNA, and meanwhile, combining several factors into a prognostic ratio could also increase the prognostic robustness with regard to variation in basal expression of single prognostic factors between individuals (Larne, 2013).

In our microRNA ratio, miR-21 is the numerator and seems to be upregulated in ccRCC tumor tissue. This finding is supported by previous reports by other research groups, as well as by the report presented by the TCGA on their ccRCC cohort (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2013, Faragalla, 2012, Juan, 2010, Zaman, 2012). Moreover, miR-21 expression has been shown to mediate survival, invasion and proliferation in ccRCC cells *in vitro* (Zhang, 2011, Zhang, 2012). In this context, it is interesting to note that increased expression of miR-21 has been reported in renal fibrosis, and in addition, miR-21 seems to be involved in an epigenetic switch induced by inflammatory signaling which enables maintenance of a transformed state in mammary cells (Glowacki, 2013, Iliopoulos, 2010, Zarjou, 2011). The role of miR-21 in renal inflammation as well as in RCC could be an indication that miR-21 is involved in malignant transformation in the kidney, as chronic kidney disease and renal fibrosis is linked to increased risk of RCC (Russo, 2012).

Although miR-10b has been reported to be upregulated in several cancer types, our finding of decreased miR-10b expression in ccRCC is supported by other reports (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2013, Juan, 2010, Lu, 2014, Osanto, 2012). The targets of miR-10b in the kidney are unknown, however miR-10b has been validated to target tumor suppressor genes in other cancers where miR-10b seems to be upregulated, and it is possible that effects of miR-10b expression are cell-type dependent (Gabriely, 2011, Ma, 2007, Tian, 2010). As previously mentioned, decreased expression of miR-10b in ccRCC has been linked to poor prognosis as well as metastatic disease and early relapse (Heinzelmann, 2011, Khella, 2012, Slaby, 2012, Wotschofsky, 2012, Wu, 2012). Similar to miR-21, dysregulation of miR10b expression has been linked to renal disease, as miR-10b was recently reported to be significantly downregulated in renal allograft rejection (Liu, 2015). Further elucidation of the roles of miR-10b and miR-21, either alone or together, in kidney

disease and ccRCC could potentially increase the understanding of RCC tumor formation and biology.

Paper II

Introduction

In previous reports from our group, high Axl expression has been identified in ccRCC cells *in vitro*, and furthermore, high Axl expression in RCC patients correlates with poor survival and is an independent prognostic factor (Gustafsson, 2009, Gustafsson, 2009). The miR-34 family, known as a family of tumor suppressor microRNAs mediating p53-induced cellular stress response, has been shown to be epigenetically inactivated in several solid cancers, including RCC, and moreover miR-34a has been shown to be downregulated in ccRCC cells *in vitro* (Lodygin, 2008, Vogt, 2011, Yu, 2014). However, reports are in conflict as miR-34a also has been reported to be upregulated in ccRCC tumors (Liu, 2010). Axl expression correlates inversely with miR-34a has been shown to directly bind to the 3' UTR of Axl to regulate Axl expression post-transcriptionally (Mackiewicz, 2011, Mudduluru, 2011).

In this report, our aim was to elucidate the role of the miR-34 family members, miR-34a, miR-34b, and miR-34c, in the regulation of Axl expression in ccRCC cells *in vitro*. Furthermore, we sought to determine if Axl expression correlated inversely with miR-34a/b/c expression in human ccRCC tumors, and whether any of the miR-34 family members could predict patient outcome in ccRCC.

Methods and results

786-O, a ccRCC cell line, was transiently transfected with miR-34 family members, and cells were analyzed for total Axl protein expression using Western Blot (WB), surface Axl protein expression using flow cytometry (FCM), as well as for Axl mRNA levels using RT-qPCR, and we observed significant downregulation of Axl protein as well as decreased Axl mRNA levels in cells transfected with miR-34a or miR-34c. To determine if miR-34a/c could directly regulate Axl mRNA by binding to the 3' UTR, we performed Luciferase reporter assay with an Axl 3' UTR construct and microRNA mimics, and showed that both miR-34a and miR-34c bind directly to Axl 3' UTR. The binding of miR-34a and miR-34c to Axl 3' UTR was seed sequence-specific as an introduced mutation in the seed sequence of the Axl 3' UTR abrogated miR-34a/c-mediated downregulation of Luciferase activity.

Moreover, expression analysis of the miR-34 family members in RCC tumor samples using RT-qPCR revealed that miR-34a is upregulated in ccRCC patients, however miR-34a does not predict outcome in ccRCC. In addition, expression of miR-34a was analyzed with regard to correlation with previously determined Axl mRNA levels in tumor, sAxl in patient serum, as well as immunohistochemistry for Axl in tumor tissue, however no correlation with Axl expression was found.

Conclusions and future perspectives

We concluded that although miR-34a/c has the capability to regulate Axl *in vitro*, the results of our study do not support the hypothesis of miR-34 family members as key regulators of Axl expression in ccRCC. In addition, our findings do not support miR-34a as a tumor suppressor in ccRCC. This finding is in agreement with other reports where miR-34a seemed to support cellular proliferation in renal carcinogenesis (Dutta, 2007). Interestingly, miR-34a has also been shown to support survival when co-expressed with Myc in B-lymphoid cells (Sotillo, 2011). Differential targeting of a microRNA in different cell types could be explained by the effects of target mRNA abundance on target regulation (Arvey, 2010). In this context, it would be of interest to determine the role of miR-34a in ccRCC pathogenesis, and to elucidate which targets are regulated by miR-34a in ccRCC.

Although our study does not support this hypothesis, it is still possible that Axl expression is regulated by miR-34a/c in RCC, although the fact that miR-34a expression is increased in ccRCC does not strengthen this hypothesis. As tumor RNA extracts do not only contain tumor cells but also tumor stroma, it is possible that Axl and miR-34a are not expressed in the same cells. This could potentially be elucidated using *in situ* hybridization or animal models utilizing reporter genes to identify exactly which cells express Axl and miR-34a, as well as localization of Axl protein or mRNA and miR-34a.

Paper III

Introduction

As previously discussed, high expression of Axl has been reported in PCa, and has been linked to metastasis and aggressive phenotype (Mishra, 2012, Paccez, 2013, Shiozawa, 2010). Similar to RCC, epigenetic inactivation of miR-34a has been reported in PCa and has been shown to regulate cellular growth and resistance to

chemotherapy (Fujita, 2008, Kojima, 2010, Lodygin, 2008). Moreover, decreased expression of miR-34c predicts worsened outcome in PCa, and miR-34c has been shown to be a direct regulator of MET and Bcl2 in PCa (Hagman, 2010). As previously mentioned, direct regulation of Axl by miR-34a has been reported, and in addition, overexpression of miR-34c is associated with decreased Axl expression in PCa (Boysen, 2014, Hagman, 2013, Mackiewicz, 2011, Mudduluru, 2011).

In this report, we sought to elucidate the role of the miR-34 family members in the regulation of Axl expression in PCa cell lines *in vitro*, as well as to determine the role of Axl in miR-34-mediated regulation of cellular functions such as growth, apoptosis and migration.

Methods and results

We performed transient transfection with miR-34 family members in PCa cell lines, and analyzed the cells for total Axl protein expression using WB, surface Axl protein expression using FCM, and in addition we used RT-qPCR to measure Axl mRNA levels. Significant downregulation of Axl protein was observed, as well as decreased Axl mRNA levels in PCa cells transfected with miR-34a or miR-34c. Moreover, we performed Luciferase reporter assay with an Axl 3' UTR construct and microRNA mimics, and both miR-34a and miR-34c were found to bind directly to the 3' UTR of Axl. We confirmed that binding of miR-34a and miR-34c to Axl 3' UTR occurred at the predicted seed sequence using an introduced mutation in the miR-34 seed sequence of the Axl 3' UTR which inhibited downregulation of Luciferase-Axl 3'UTR by miR-34a and miR-34c. In addition, we assayed PCa cell lines transiently transfected with miR-34a/b/c or Axl siRNA, and found that miR-34a/c-mediated inhibition of proliferation in the presence of Gas6 potentially could be mediated by Axl. However, transfection with Axl siRNA did not replicate miR-34/c transfection with respect to cellular growth or migration, although a similar insignificant trend to increased apoptosis in PC3 cells transfected cells with miR-34a/c or Axl siRNA.

Conclusions and future perspectives

Similar to our conclusions in Paper II, our conclusion in Paper III was that miR-34 indeed has the capability to regulate Axl *in vitro*, however it seems that miR-34a/c-mediated effects in PCa are most likely primarily mediated by regulation of other targets. Surprisingly, we could not completely reproduce previously reported effects of miR-34c with regard to proliferation, growth and apoptosis (Hagman, 2010). Possibly, this could be explained by experimental differences. Although we could show that Axl is directly regulated by miR-34a/c, this does not necessarily have to

imply that Axl is regulated by miR-34a/c in PCa *in vivo*, especially considering the complexity of microRNA targeting and how target regulation is dependent on target mRNA abundance (Arvey, 2010, Bartel, 2009). As miR-34c regulation of MET in PCa has been shown to have impact on tumorigenic processes such as invasion, it is possible that miR-34c-MET mRNA interactions, and potentially regulation of other targets by miR-34c, are favored in ectopic reexpression of miR-34c in PCa (Hagman, 2013). To further elucidate whether regulation of Axl by miR-34a/c in PCa has physiological relevance, it would be interesting to evaluate if Axl and miR-34a/c are coexpressed in PCa tumors, for example by immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridization in tumor tissue, or by reporter assays *in vivo*. In addition, altered experimental setups could possibly enable further knowledge regarding Axl-mediated effects of miR-34 family dysregulation in PCa.

Paper IV

Introduction

High expression of Axl has been associated with poor prognosis in several human cancers including RCC, and in addition, increasing evidence has been presented indicating a role for Axl in acquired resistance to targeted therapies in cancer (Brand, 2014, Gustafsson, 2009, Wu, 2014). Axl is involved in tumorigenesis, for example in proliferation and migration, and it also plays a role in immunology and in vascular biology (Li, 2009, Verma, 2011). Furthermore, Axl is involved in tumor angiogenesis and has been shown to crosstalk with other RTKs such as EGFR and VEGFR (Holland, 2005, Korshunov, 2012). Moreover, Axl seems to be involved in acquired resistance to targeted therapies, for example EGFR-targeted therapies in breast and lung cancer, and resistance to Imatinib, an inhibitor targeting multiple kinases including PDGFR, in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (Mahadevan, 2007, Meyer, 2013, Zhang, 2012). In addition, therapy targeting Axl has been shown to have additive effect with VEGFR-targeted therapy in EC tube formation, and targeting Axl in xenograft models improves the effect of anti-VEGF therapy in breast cancer and NSCLC, and EGFR inhibitor therapy in NSCLC (Li, 2009, Ye, 2010). In RCC, the multi-kinase inhibitor Sunitinib which targets RTKs such as VEGFR and PDGFR, is often used for therapy of advanced RCCs (Faivre, 2007). However, although targeted therapies have been shown to be beneficial, disease progression often occurs in patients with metastatic RCC even when treated with targeted therapies (Calvo, 2014).

In this report, we hypothesized that Gas6 and Axl, similar to what has been observed in other human cancers, possibly could be involved in resistance to targeted therapy in ccRCC. Thus, our aim was to elucidate the role of Gas6/Axl signaling in acquired resistance to Sunitinib treatment.

Methods and results

Subconfluent and confluent 786-O ccRCC cells were stimulated with Gas6 for up to 5 days, and Gas6-mediated activation of Axl was evaluated in total cell lysates using Axl immunoprecipitation (IP) and subsequent immunblotting for Axl phosphorylation. Interestingly, long-term Axl activation by Gas6 was only observed in 786-O cell grown to full confluence prior to stimulation, whereas Axl phosphorylation in subconfluent cells seemed to be highly induced within 15 minutes, started to decrease after 30 minutes, and was followed by reduction of total Axl expression in the cells. Moreover, IP and WB for phosphorylated Axl and WB for phosphorylated Akt revealed that both Axl and Akt are activated even after 14 and 10 days, respectively, of Gas6 stimulation in confluent 786-O cells. In addition CellTiter-Glo 2.0 and CellTox-Green assays revealed that Gas6 could not mediate increased viability and growth, or decreased apoptosis, in subconfluent cells, as was observed with confluent Gas6-stimulated cells.

Short-term stimulation of 786-O cells with or without Sunitinib pretreatment revealed that Sunitinib does not inhibit Gas6-mediated Axl activation; instead Axl phosphorylation was increased in Sunitinib and Gas6 co-treated cells and similarly, enhanced phosphorylation of Akt and Erk was observed in the presence of Sunitinib and was further enhanced by Gas6. Sunitinib-induced enhancement of Axl phosphorylation could be inhibited using the small molecule Axl inhibitor R428, and furthermore, R428 could inhibit the Sunitinib-mediated increase of Akt and Erk activation even when Gas6 was not present. Similar results were obtained in human aortic endothelial cells (HAECs) with respect to enhanced Axl and Akt activation when cells were co-treated with Gas6 and Sunitinib. Using a phospho-kinase array, we observed increased activation of a downstream target of Akt, PRAS40, which is involved in cancer progression, after treatment of 786-O cells with Gas6, and this effect was further enhanced with co-treatment of Gas6 and Sunitinib. Interestingly, we observed activation of EGFR and HGFR in 786-O cells co-treated with Gas6 and Sunitinib, but not in cells stimulated with Gas6 alone, and the Gas6/Sunitinibmediated increase in EGFR and HGFR phosphorylation could be partially inhibited using the R428 Axl inhibitor. Co-treatment of Gas6 and Sunitinib in 786-O cells was associated with increased growth and viability compared to Gas6 or Sunitinib alone, and reduced apoptosis similar to what was observed with Gas6 alone. Moreover, Gas6-mediated activation of Axl was accompanied by increased secretion of

Osteopontin, a protein involved in tumor angiogenesis and stroma adaptation, and this effect was further increased in the presence of Sunitinib.

Conclusions and future perspectives

The results presented in this preliminary report suggests that in the presence of Sunitinib, Gas6/Axl signaling is enhanced and is acting in concert with other RTKs. As previously mentioned, Gas6 is expressed in the kidney, and in ccRCC tumors (Gustafsson, 2009, Manfioletti, 1993). In RCC, Sunitinib is thought to act primarily on ECs (Huang, 2010). The observed enhancement of Akt activation in Gas6 and Sunitinib co-treated cells could imply a role for Axl and Gas6 in the resistance to Sunitinib treatment. In NSCLC, increased Akt signaling in ECs is associated with increased tumor angiogenesis characterized by leaky vessels, causing hypoxia, and moreover, hypoxia seems to stabilize Gas6/Axl signaling in PCa (Graves, 2010, Mishra, 2012). Furthermore, the observed Gas6-inducible Osteopontin secretion, which was shown to be enhanced in the presence of Sunitinib, could indicate a role for Gas6/Axl in activating alternative pathways to angiogenesis, thus providing a mechanism to restored tumor angiogenesis, as Osteopontin seems to be involved in tumor angiogenesis (Anborgh, 2010).

As this is a project that is still undergoing, future perspectives include repeating experiments as well as confirming observations from the protein array experiments. In addition, we are currently analyzing the effects of Gas6 and Sunitinib co-treatment on 786-O cell cycling, and in addition, we are setting up experiments for assaying effects on migration and invasion in this context. Furthermore, we would like to evaluate functional effects of Gas6/Sunitinib co-treatment in ECs using migration and tube formation assays. Moreover, we aim to repeat selected experiments in primary RCC tumor cells isolated from patients.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

I vårt DNA finns det ett stort antal gener, som beskriver för cellen hur den skall tillverka de proteiner som behövs för att cellen ska kunna fungera normalt. Olika celler uttrycker olika proteiner, och det är viktigt att tillverkningen av proteiner, och även mängden av olika proteiner i cellen, är under kontroll och i balans. När en cell uttrycker för mycket eller för lite av ett protein, eller om proteinet har förändrats, t.ex. genom mutationer i genen, kan olika sjukdomar, t.ex. cancer, uppstå. Det finns många sätt för cellerna att kontrollera proteinmängden i sig själva, dels genom kontroll av själva processen där generna används för att tillverka proteiner, men också genom att påverka processer som styr proteinernas aktivitet eller som gör att proteiner bryts ned. Ett sätt att kontrollera tillverkningen av proteiner är med så kallade mikro-RNA. Mikro-RNA är väldigt korta bitar av RNA, som också finns i vårt DNA, men de beskriver inte hur något protein ska tillverkas; istället kan de reglera proteintillverkningsprocessen genom att interagera med de meddelanden som bär genernas beskrivning av proteinerna. På så sätt kan en mikro-RNA påverka tillverkningen av ett visst protein, oftast genom att hindra tillverkningen. I min avhandling har jag arbetat med olika mikro-RNA, samt med ett protein som heter Axl, som har visats sig finnas i stora mängder i många olika typer av cancerceller. Axlproteinet är en receptor som kan ta emot signaler från cellens utsida, och Axl har funktioner som kan bidra till egenskaper som ofta kopplas till cancer, som till exempel cancercellers förmåga att motstå programmerad celldöd, en viktig process för kroppen att ta död på celler som inte beter sig normalt, eller egenskaper som gör att cellerna växer snabbare och kan förflytta sig i kroppen.

I mitt första projekt mätte vi olika mikro-RNA i prover från njurcancertumörer, och vi kunde visa att två mikro-RNA, miR-21 och miR-10b, uttrycks olika mycket i njurcancertumörer jämfört med i frisk njurvävnad. Dessutom kunde vi visa att det förändrade uttrycket av dessa mikro-RNA kan användas för att skilja på patienter som har god prognos och de som har sämre prognos, hos patienter som inte har någon metastas när de får sin diagnos. Alla funktioner av dessa mikro-RNA är inte helt utredda, men man vet att miR-21 ofta uttrycks i större mängd i tumörceller från olika typer av cancer, och när det finns mycket miR-21 så verkar cancercellerna vara mer aggressiva, t.ex. så är de mer motståndskraftiga mot programmerad celldöd. Uttrycket av båda dessa mikro-RNA verkar också förändras i njursjukdomar, på samma sätt som

vi sett i njurcancer, vilket är väldigt intressant eftersom det finns en tydlig koppling mellan njursjukdomar och ökad risk för njurcancer.

I det andra projektet undersökte vi om en familj av mikro-RNA, miR-34-familjen, kan reglera uttrycket av Axl-proteinet, samt hur dessa mikro-RNA uttrycks i njurcancer. Bakgrunden till detta var att vi tidigare kunnat visa att Axl uttrycks i njurcancertumörer, och att njurcancerpatienter som har mycket Axl i tumören har sämre prognos än de som inte har så mycket Axl. Dessutom har det sedan tidigare varit känt att en av de mikro-RNA som ingår i miR-34-familjen, miR-34a, kan reglera uttrycket av Axl i andra cancersjukdomar, och man har också kunnat visa att ju mer miR-34a man har i tumören, desto mindre Axl finns det. Med hjälp av experiment i njurcancerceller kunde vi visa att både miR-34a och miR-34c, en annan medlem i miR-34-familjen, kunde reglera mängden Axl i njurceller, men när vi undersökte uttrycket av miR-34-familjemedlemmarna i patientprover så visade det sig att mängden miR-34a var högre i tumörprover än i prover från frisk njure, något som andra också har sett. Eftersom miR-34-familjen oftast brukar vara uttryckt i lägre mängd i tumörer än i frisk vävnad, och dessutom verkar kunna motverka egenskaper som är viktiga för tumörceller, brukar man beskriva dessa mikro-RNA som en del av cellens mekanism för att förhindra att cellen utvecklar tumörliknande egenskaper. I njurcancer verkar dock miR-34a ha en omvänd roll. Andra forskargrupper har tidigare kunnat vissa att just miR-34a verkar kunna ha olika effekt i olika celltyper, och man har också visat att miR-34a kan göra så att celler från njuren växer snabbare.

I det tredje projektet fortsatte vi vår undersökning av miR-34-familjen, denna gång i prostatacancer. Även här ville vi undersöka om miR-34-familjen kan reglera uttrycket Axl-proteinet. I detta projekt var bakgrunden att Axl uttrycks i prostatacancertumörer, och uttrycket verkar vara högre ju allvarligare sjukdomen är. Det är också känt sedan tidigare att uttrycket av både miR-34a och miR-34c är lägre i prostatacancer, och att uttrycket av miR-34c kan användas för att bedöma prognosen i prostatacancer. Även i detta projekt gjorde vi experiment i celler, denna gång prostatacancerceller, och vi kunde visa att både miR-34a och miR-34c, en annan medlem i miR-34-familjen, kunde reglera mängden Axl. Vidare gjorde vi experiment för att utröna vilken betydelse regleringen av Axl av dessa mikro-RNA kunde ha, och vi undersökte bland annat celltillväxt, rörlighet och programmerad celldöd. Vi kunde visa att nedreglering av Axl verkade vara kopplat till minskad celltillväxt, så kallad proliferation, när man stimulerar cellerna med Gas6, ett protein som stimulerar Axl. I övrigt verkade inte Axl ha så stor inverkan på de egenskaper vi undersökte, och vi konstaterade att de effekter som uppstår när uttrycket av miR-34a och/eller miR-34c förloras i prostatacancer troligtvis beror i första hand på andra proteiner, som också regleras av dessa mikro-RNA.

I det fjärde och sista projektet, som vi fortfarande arbetar med i vårt labb, har vi fokuserat på Axl, och Gas6, proteinet som binder till Axl på cellens utsida och på så

sätt kan aktivera Axl, samt vilken roll de har i behandling av njurcancer med ett läkemedel som heter Sunitinib. Sunitinib är ett läkemedel som verkar genom att förhindra aktiveringen av receptor-proteiner på blodkärlsceller, och på så sätt förhindrar nybildning av blodkärl i tumören, en process som ofta sker i cancertumörer. Sunitinib har effekt i njurcancer, men tyvärr är det många patienter som efter ett tag återfår tumörer. Anledningen tros vara så kallad resistens, det vill säga att tumören hittar vägar att fortsätta växa, t.ex. genom att få igång nybildningen av blodkärl igen, och i andra cancersjukdomar har man sett att Axl verkar delta i den här processen. Genom experiment med både njurcancerceller och blodkärlsceller har vi kunnat visa att när man behandlar njurcancerceller med Sunitinib, så verkar de Axlaktiverande effekterna av proteinet Gas6 öka. Dessutom aktiveras andra receptorer, som kan delta i processer som bidrar till cancer, när man behandlar cellerna med Sunitinib, och denna effekt blir starkare när man också har med Gas6 i behandlingen. Gas6 verkar också kunna stimulera utsöndringen av ett protein som kan bidra till nybildningen av blodkärl, och även denna effekt förstärks när man dessutom behandlar med Sunitinib. Detta är väldigt intressant eftersom det sedan tidigare är känt att Gas6 uttrycks i njuren, och Axl uttrycks som bekant i njurcancerceller, och även i blodkärlsceller. Därför tror vi att Axl och Gas6 deltar i utvecklingen av resistans mot Sunitinib-behandling, och vi kommer att utföra ytterligare experiment för att få mer information om hur detta skulle kunna gå till.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Björn Dahlbäck, for taking me in and giving me the opportunity to pursue a PhD in your lab. I couldn't have asked for a better supervisor! You are a truly brilliant scientist and an inspiration. Thank you for always having time, for encouraging me to develop further as a scientist, for always having time for us, and for having great people skills.

To my co-supervisor, Håkan, thank you for all the inspiring meetings, and for being such an approachable and encouraging person!

Anna, thank you for coming back to the lab! Your presence is soothing and spiritlifting, and your support has meant so much to me. You seem to always have the time for a chat (except for when you're busy with dilution bonanza and such, of course), be it science-related or just general everyday life chatter. In addition to being a wonderful person, it is also great to have someone in the lab who shares my passion for Axl and kidneys ;)

Astrid, thank you for your fun-loving personality, your uprightness and just for being a great friend! And of course, for great conference and retreat company, and for always having the time for a little chat and some encouraging words!

Yvonne, thank you for all your time and encouragement, and for sharing you miRNA expertise! And for being a female role model in science!

Zandra, Olivia, Maggi, and Bendicta - thank you for always being supportive, for taking the time to help and discuss, and just for being really nice people in general. I have missed you all since you left the Wallenberg lab!

Cecilia, Kaisa, Sinh, and Sofia – sharing an office with you has been great fun. Thank you for all the laughs, and for being patient with my weirdness and spontaneous singing througout the working day!

Li, Ruzica, Lina, Eva, Andreas, Mario, Oktawia, Josefine – thank you for being awesome labmates! All of you have been important for the great atmosphere we have in the lab, so thank you for all the laughs and great times!

A special thank you goes to Calle, from whom I inherited all of my Axl/Gas6 reagents, and who took the time to introduce me to some of our methods while still being busy with finishing your own thesis.

Martin, thank you for intersting and fun meetings, and for knowing so much about the kidney and being able to convey your knowledge in such a pedagogic and enthusiastic way!

David, you are a brilliant bioinformaticist and I am very grateful for all your help and expertise in our work with Paper I.

Börje, thank you for letting me work with your fantastic RCC cohort!

Jonas, thank you for taking me in to your lab, and for encouraging me to pursue a Ph.D.

Aurelie, thank you for being a great supervisor, and a great friend too!

Also, thanks to all of the coffee mafia members for relaxing coffee breaks, and of course everyone at Wallenberglab for interesting morning meetings, helping each other out with reagent and consumable emergencies and fun and nice chats!

Leif and Henrik, thank you for all the ordering throughout the years, and for always doing your best to get things here in a timely manner! And a non-thank you to VWR Sweden for incredibly slow delivery times.

My family – mamma Ingrid, and Henrik, Sorina and Andrei (and Tilda, although she has yet to be born), and my grandmother Asta – I love you and your support means so much to me!

And last, but definitely not least; Simon – thank you for being the awesomest person in the world, and for all your love and support throughout the years! I love you so much!!

References

- Abe H, Kamai T, 2013; Recent advances in the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Int J Urol.
- Agostini M, Knight RA, 2014; miR-34: from bench to bedside. Oncotarget. 5(4):872-81.
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P, et al., 2002 Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4 ed. New York: Garland Science.
- Ambs S, Prueitt RL, Yi M, Hudson RS, Howe TM, Petrocca F, et al., 2008; Genomic profiling of microRNA and messenger RNA reveals deregulated microRNA expression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 68(15):6162-70.
- Ammoun S, Provenzano L, Zhou L, Barczyk M, Evans K, Hilton DA, et al., 2014; Axl/Gas6/NFkappaB signalling in schwannoma pathological proliferation, adhesion and survival. Oncogene. 33(3):336-46.
- Anborgh PH, Mutrie JC, Tuck AB, Chambers AF, 2010; Role of the metastasis-promoting protein osteopontin in the tumour microenvironment. J Cell Mol Med. 14(8):2037-44.
- Anderson HA, Maylock CA, Williams JA, Paweletz CP, Shu H, Shacter E, 2003; Serumderived protein S binds to phosphatidylserine and stimulates the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Nat Immunol. 4(1):87-91.
- Angelillo-Scherrer A, de Frutos P, Aparicio C, Melis E, Savi P, Lupu F, et al., 2001; Deficiency or inhibition of Gas6 causes platelet dysfunction and protects mice against thrombosis. Nat Med. 7(2):215-21.
- Angelillo-Scherrer A, Burnier L, Flores N, Savi P, DeMol M, Schaeffer P, et al., 2005; Role of Gas6 receptors in platelet signaling during thrombus stabilization and implications for antithrombotic therapy. J Clin Invest. 115(2):237-46.
- Arvey A, Larsson E, Sander C, Leslie CS, Marks DS, 2010; Target mRNA abundance dilutes microRNA and siRNA activity. Mol Syst Biol. 6:363.
- Asangani IA, Rasheed SA, Nikolova DA, Leupold JH, Colburn NH, Post S, et al., 2008; MicroRNA-21 (miR-21) post-transcriptionally downregulates tumor suppressor Pdcd4 and stimulates invasion, intravasation and metastasis in colorectal cancer. Oncogene. 27(15):2128-36.
- Asiedu MK, Beauchamp-Perez FD, Ingle JN, Behrens MD, Radisky DC, Knutson KL, 2014; AXL induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and regulates the function of breast cancer stem cells. Oncogene. 33(10):1316-24.
- Avanzi GC, Gallicchio M, Bottarel F, Gammaitoni L, Cavalloni G, Buonfiglio D, et al., 1998; GAS6 inhibits granulocyte adhesion to endothelial cells. Blood. 91(7):2334-40.
- Axelrod H, Pienta KJ, 2014; Axl as a mediator of cellular growth and survival. Oncotarget. 5(19):8818-52.

- Bae SY, Hong JY, Lee HJ, Park HJ, Lee SK, 2015; Targeting the degradation of AXL receptor tyrosine kinase to overcome resistance in gefitinib-resistant non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget.
- Baek D, Villen J, Shin C, Camargo FD, Gygi SP, Bartel DP, 2008; The impact of microRNAs on protein output. Nature. 455(7209):64-71.
- Balogh I, Hafizi S, Stenhoff J, Hansson K, Dahlback B, 2005; Analysis of Gas6 in human platelets and plasma. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 25(6):1280-6.
- Bartel DP, 2004; MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell. 116(2):281-97.
- Bartel DP, 2009; MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell. 136(2):215-33.
- Bellido-Martin L, de Frutos PG, 2008; Vitamin K-dependent actions of Gas6. Vitam Horm. 78:185-209.
- Ben-Batalla I, Schultze A, Wroblewski M, Erdmann R, Heuser M, Waizenegger JS, et al., 2013; Axl, a prognostic and therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia mediates paracrine crosstalk of leukemia cells with bone marrow stroma. Blood. 122(14):2443-52.
- Benzakour O, Formstone C, Rahman S, Kanthou C, Dennehy U, Scully MF, et al., 1995; Evidence for a protein S receptor(s) on human vascular smooth muscle cells. Analysis of the binding characteristics and mitogenic properties of protein S on human vascular smooth muscle cells. Biochem J. 308 (Pt 2):481-5.
- Biagioni F, Bossel Ben-Moshe N, Fontemaggi G, Yarden Y, Domany E, Blandino G, 2013; The locus of microRNA-10b: a critical target for breast cancer insurgence and dissemination. Cell Cycle. 12(15):2371-5.
- Bielecka ZF, Czarnecka AM, Solarek W, Kornakiewicz A, Szczylik C, 2014; Mechanisms of Acquired Resistance to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Clear - Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma (ccRCC). Curr Signal Transduct Ther. 8(3):218-28.
- Blostein MD, Rajotte I, Rao DP, Holcroft CA, Kahn SR, 2011; Elevated plasma gas6 levels are associated with venous thromboembolic disease. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 32(3):272-8.
- Bommer GT, Gerin I, Feng Y, Kaczorowski AJ, Kuick R, Love RE, et al., 2007; p53-mediated activation of miRNA34 candidate tumor-suppressor genes. Curr Biol. 17(15):1298-307.
- Boon RA, Dimmeler S, 2015; MicroRNAs in myocardial infarction. Nat Rev Cardiol. 12(3):135-42.
- Boron WF, 2004 Medical Physiology: A Cellular And Molecular Approach. Oxford: Elsevier Saunders.
- Bostrom AK, Lindgren D, Johansson ME, Axelson H, 2013; Effects of TGF-beta signaling in clear cell renal cell carcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 435(1):126-33.
- Boysen G, Bausch-Fluck D, Thoma CR, Nowicka AM, Stiehl DP, Cima I, et al., 2012; Identification and functional characterization of pVHL-dependent cell surface proteins in renal cell carcinoma. Neoplasia. 14(6):535-46.
- Boysen J, Sinha S, Price-Troska T, Warner SL, Bearss DJ, Viswanatha D, et al., 2014; The tumor suppressor axis p53/miR-34a regulates Axl expression in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: implications for therapy in p53-defective CLL patients. Leukemia. 28(2):451-5.
- Brand TM, Iida M, Stein AP, Corrigan KL, Braverman CM, Luthar N, et al., 2014; AXL mediates resistance to cetuximab therapy. Cancer Res. 74(18):5152-64.

- Brand TM, Iida M, Stein AP, Corrigan KL, Braverman C, Coan J, et al., 2015; AXL is a logical molecular target in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res.
- Braunger J, Schleithoff L, Schulz AS, Kessler H, Lammers R, Ullrich A, et al., 1997; Intracellular signaling of the Ufo/Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is mediated mainly by a multi-substrate docking-site. Oncogene. 14(22):2619-31.
- Brown JE, Krodel M, Pazos M, Lai C, Prieto AL, 2012; Cross-phosphorylation, signaling and proliferative functions of the Tyro3 and Axl receptors in Rat2 cells. PLoS One. 7(5):e36800.
- Byers LA, Diao L, Wang J, Saintigny P, Girard L, Peyton M, et al., 2013; An epithelialmesenchymal transition gene signature predicts resistance to EGFR and PI3K inhibitors and identifies Axl as a therapeutic target for overcoming EGFR inhibitor resistance. Clin Cancer Res. 19(1):279-90.
- Calvo E, Grunwald V, Bellmunt J, 2014; Controversies in renal cell carcinoma: treatment choice after progression on vascular endothelial growth factor-targeted therapy. Eur J Cancer. 50(7):1321-9.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, 2013; Comprehensive molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Nature. 499(7456):43-9.
- Caraux A, Lu Q, Fernandez N, Riou S, Di Santo JP, Raulet DH, et al., 2006; Natural killer cell differentiation driven by Tyro3 receptor tyrosine kinases. Nat Immunol. 7(7):747-54.
- Catto JW, Alcaraz A, Bjartell AS, De Vere White R, Evans CP, Fussel S, et al., 2011; MicroRNA in prostate, bladder, and kidney cancer: a systematic review. Eur Urol. 59(5):671-81.
- Chang RT, Kirby R, Challacombe BJ, 2012; Is there a link between BPH and prostate cancer? Practitioner. 256(1750):13-6, 2.
- Chang TC, Wentzel EA, Kent OA, Ramachandran K, Mullendore M, Lee KH, et al., 2007; Transactivation of miR-34a by p53 broadly influences gene expression and promotes apoptosis. Mol Cell. 26(5):745-52.
- Chapman CG, Pekow J, 2015; The emerging role of miRNAs in inflammatory bowel disease: a review. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 8(1):4-22.
- Chendrimada TP, Gregory RI, Kumaraswamy E, Norman J, Cooch N, Nishikura K, et al., 2005; TRBP recruits the Dicer complex to Ago2 for microRNA processing and gene silencing. Nature. 436(7051):740-4.
- Cheng L, Montironi R, Bostwick DG, Lopez-Beltran A, Berney DM, 2012; Staging of prostate cancer. Histopathology. 60(1):87-117.
- Cheng Y, Zhang C, 2010; MicroRNA-21 in cardiovascular disease. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 3(3):251-5.
- Chow TF, Youssef YM, Lianidou E, Romaschin AD, Honey RJ, Stewart R, et al., 2010; Differential expression profiling of microRNAs and their potential involvement in renal cell carcinoma pathogenesis. Clin Biochem. 43(1-2):150-8.
- Chung BI, Malkowicz SB, Nguyen TB, Libertino JA, McGarvey TW, 2003; Expression of the proto-oncogene Axl in renal cell carcinoma. DNA Cell Biol. 22(8):533-40.
- Cichon MA, Szentpetery Z, Caley MP, Papadakis ES, Mackenzie IC, Brennan CH, et al., 2014; The receptor tyrosine kinase Axl regulates cell-cell adhesion and stemness in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Oncogene. 33(32):4185-92.
- Cohen HT, McGovern FJ, 2005; Renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 353(23):2477-90.

- Corney DC, Flesken-Nikitin A, Godwin AK, Wang W, Nikitin AY, 2007; MicroRNA-34b and MicroRNA-34c are targets of p53 and cooperate in control of cell proliferation and adhesion-independent growth. Cancer Res. 67(18):8433-8.
- Cosemans JM, Van Kruchten R, Olieslagers S, Schurgers LJ, Verheyen FK, Munnix IC, et al., 2010; Potentiating role of Gas6 and Tyro3, Axl and Mer (TAM) receptors in human and murine platelet activation and thrombus stabilization. J Thromb Haemost. 8(8):1797-808.
- Costa M, Bellosta P, Basilico C, 1996; Cleavage and release of a soluble form of the receptor tyrosine kinase ARK in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Physiol. 168(3):737-44.
- Cotran RS, Kumar V, Fausto N, Robbins SL, Abbas AK, 2005 Robbins and Cotran pathologic basis of disease. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Saunders.
- Cummings CT, Deryckere D, Earp HS, Graham DK, 2013; Molecular pathways: MERTK signaling in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 19(19):5275-80.
- D'Arcangelo D, Ambrosino V, Giannuzzo M, Gaetano C, Capogrossi MC, 2006; Axl receptor activation mediates laminar shear stress anti-apoptotic effects in human endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Res. 71(4):754-63.

Dahlback B, 2000; Blood coagulation. Lancet. 355(9215):1627-32.

- De Angelis R, Sant M, Coleman MP, Francisci S, Baili P, Pierannunzio D, et al., 2014; -Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE-5-a. Lancet Oncol. 15(1):23-34.
- Dey N, Das F, Ghosh-Choudhury N, Mandal CC, Parekh DJ, Block K, et al., 2012; microRNA-21 governs TORC1 activation in renal cancer cell proliferation and invasion. PLoS One. 7(6):e37366.
- Di Scipio RG, Hermodson MA, Yates SG, Davie EW, 1977; A comparison of human prothrombin, factor IX (Christmas factor), factor X (Stuart factor), and protein S. Biochemistry. 16(4):698-706.
- Duncan JL, Yang H, Vollrath D, Yasumura D, Matthes MT, Trautmann N, et al., 2003; Inherited retinal dystrophy in Mer knockout mice. Adv Exp Med Biol. 533:165-72.
- Dutta KK, Zhong Y, Liu YT, Yamada T, Akatsuka S, Hu Q, et al., 2007; Association of microRNA-34a overexpression with proliferation is cell type-dependent. Cancer Sci. 98(12):1845-52.
- Eichhorn SW, Guo H, McGeary SE, Rodriguez-Mias RA, Shin C, Baek D, et al., 2014; mRNA destabilization is the dominant effect of mammalian microRNAs by the time substantial repression ensues. Mol Cell. 56(1):104-15.
- Ekman C, Stenhoff J, Dahlback B, 2010; Gas6 is complexed to the soluble tyrosine kinase receptor Axl in human blood. J Thromb Haemost. 8(4):838-44.
- Escudier B, Eisen T, Porta C, Patard JJ, Khoo V, Algaba F, et al., 2012; Renal cell carcinoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 23 Suppl 7:vii65-71.
- Esquela-Kerscher A, Slack FJ, 2006; Oncomirs microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 6(4):259-69.
- Eulalio A, Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E, 2008; Getting to the root of miRNA-mediated gene silencing. Cell. 132(1):9-14.
- Faivre S, Demetri G, Sargent W, Raymond E, 2007; Molecular basis for sunitinib efficacy and future clinical development. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 6(9):734-45.

- Faragalla H, Youssef YM, Scorilas A, Khalil B, White NM, Mejia-Guerrero S, et al., 2012; The clinical utility of miR-21 as a diagnostic and prognostic marker for renal cell carcinoma. J Mol Diagn. 14(4):385-92.
- Faust M, Ebensperger C, Schulz AS, Schleithoff L, Hameister H, Bartram CR, et al., 1992; The murine ufo receptor: molecular cloning, chromosomal localization and in situ expression analysis. Oncogene. 7(7):1287-93.
- Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM, 2010; Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int J Cancer. 127(12):2893-917.
- Fiebeler A, Park JK, Muller DN, Lindschau C, Mengel M, Merkel S, et al., 2004; Growth arrest specific protein 6/Axl signaling in human inflammatory renal diseases. Am J Kidney Dis. 43(2):286-95.
- Fong MK, Hare R, Jarkowski A, 2012; A new era for castrate resistant prostate cancer: a treatment review and update. J Oncol Pharm Pract. 18(3):343-54.
- Frank I, Blute ML, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Weaver AL, Zincke H, 2002; An outcome prediction model for patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma treated with radical nephrectomy based on tumor stage, size, grade and necrosis: the SSIGN score. J Urol. 168(6):2395-400.
- Fridell YW, Jin Y, Quilliam LA, Burchert A, McCloskey P, Spizz G, et al., 1996; Differential activation of the Ras/extracellular-signal-regulated protein kinase pathway is responsible for the biological consequences induced by the Axl receptor tyrosine kinase. Mol Cell Biol. 16(1):135-45.
- Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, Bartel DP, 2009; Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. Genome Res. 19(1):92-105.
- Fuhrman SA, Lasky LC, Limas C, 1982; Prognostic significance of morphologic parameters in renal cell carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 6(7):655-63.
- Fujita Y, Kojima K, Hamada N, Ohhashi R, Akao Y, Nozawa Y, et al., 2008; Effects of miR-34a on cell growth and chemoresistance in prostate cancer PC3 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 377(1):114-9.
- Gabriely G, Teplyuk NM, Krichevsky AM, 2011; Context effect: microRNA-10b in cancer cell proliferation, spread and death. Autophagy. 7(11):1384-6.
- Gallicchio M, Mitola S, Valdembri D, Fantozzi R, Varnum B, Avanzi GC, et al., 2005; Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2-mediated endothelial cell activation by Axl tyrosine kinase receptor. Blood. 105(5):1970-6.
- Gerloff J, Korshunov VA, 2012; Immune modulation of vascular resident cells by Axl orchestrates carotid intima-media thickening. Am J Pathol. 180(5):2134-43.
- Ghosh T, Soni K, Scaria V, Halimani M, Bhattacharjee C, Pillai B, 2008; MicroRNAmediated up-regulation of an alternatively polyadenylated variant of the mouse cytoplasmic {beta}-actin gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 36(19):6318-32.
- Gjerdrum C, Tiron C, Hoiby T, Stefansson I, Haugen H, Sandal T, et al., 2010; Axl is an essential epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-induced regulator of breast cancer metastasis and patient survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107(3):1124-9.
- Glowacki F, Savary G, Gnemmi V, Buob D, Van der Hauwaert C, Lo-Guidice JM, et al., 2013; Increased circulating miR-21 levels are associated with kidney fibrosis. PLoS One. 8(2):e58014.

- Goruppi S, Ruaro E, Varnum B, Schneider C, 1997; Requirement of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase-dependent pathway and Src for Gas6-Axl mitogenic and survival activities in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Mol Cell Biol. 17(8):4442-53.
- Gould WR, Baxi SM, Schroeder R, Peng YW, Leadley RJ, Peterson JT, et al., 2005; Gas6 receptors Axl, Sky and Mer enhance platelet activation and regulate thrombotic responses. J Thromb Haemost. 3(4):733-41.
- Graham DK, Dawson TL, Mullaney DL, Snodgrass HR, Earp HS, 1994; Cloning and mRNA expression analysis of a novel human protooncogene, c-mer. Cell Growth Differ. 5(6):647-57.
- Graham DK, DeRyckere D, Davies KD, Earp HS, 2014; The TAM family: phosphatidylserine-sensing receptor tyrosine kinases gone awry in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 14(12):769-85.
- Graves EE, Maity A, Le QT, 2010; The tumor microenvironment in non-small-cell lung cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol. 20(3):156-63.
- Grimson A, Farh KK, Johnston WK, Garrett-Engele P, Lim LP, Bartel DP, 2007; MicroRNA targeting specificity in mammals: determinants beyond seed pairing. Mol Cell. 27(1):91-105.
- Gschwind A, Fischer OM, Ullrich A, 2004; The discovery of receptor tyrosine kinases: targets for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 4(5):361-70.
- Guo H, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, Bartel DP, 2010; Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature. 466(7308):835-40.
- Gustafsson A, Bostrom AK, Ljungberg B, Axelson H, Dahlback B, 2009; Gas6 and the receptor tyrosine kinase Axl in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. PLoS One. 4(10):e7575.
- Gustafsson A, Martuszewska D, Johansson M, Ekman C, Hafizi S, Ljungberg B, et al., 2009; Differential expression of Axl and Gas6 in renal cell carcinoma reflecting tumor advancement and survival. Clin Cancer Res. 15(14):4742-9.
- Ha M, Kim VN, 2014; Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 15(8):509-24.
- Hafizi S, Alindri F, Karlsson R, Dahlback B, 2002; Interaction of Axl receptor tyrosine kinase with C1-TEN, a novel C1 domain-containing protein with homology to tensin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 299(5):793-800.
- Hafizi S, Gustafsson A, Stenhoff J, Dahlback B, 2005; The Ran binding protein RanBPM interacts with Axl and Sky receptor tyrosine kinases. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 37(11):2344-56.
- Hafizi S, Dahlback B, 2006; Gas6 and protein S. Vitamin K-dependent ligands for the Axl receptor tyrosine kinase subfamily. The FEBS journal. 273(23):5231-44.
- Hagman Z, Larne O, Edsjo A, Bjartell A, Ehrnstrom RA, Ulmert D, et al., 2010; miR-34c is downregulated in prostate cancer and exerts tumor suppressive. Int J Cancer. 127(12):2768-76.
- Hagman Z, Haflidadottir BS, Ansari M, Persson M, Bjartell A, Edsjo A, et al., 2013; The tumour suppressor miR-34c targets MET in prostate cancer cells. Br J Cancer. 109(5):1271-8.
- Haldrup C, Kosaka N, Ochiya T, Borre M, Hoyer S, Orntoft TF, et al., 2014; Profiling of circulating microRNAs for prostate cancer biomarker discovery. Drug Deliv Transl Res. 4(1):19-30.

- Han M, Liu M, Wang Y, Mo Z, Bi X, Liu Z, et al., 2012; Re-expression of miR-21 contributes to migration and invasion by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition consistent with cancer stem cell characteristics in MCF-7 cells. Mol Cell Biochem. 363(1-2):427-36.
- Han X, Yan S, Weijie Z, Feng W, Liuxing W, Mengquan L, et al., 2014; Critical role of miR-10b in transforming growth factor-beta1-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer. Cancer Gene Ther. 21(2):60-7.
- Hasanbasic I, Cuerquis J, Varnum B, Blostein MD, 2004; Intracellular signaling pathways involved in Gas6-Axl-mediated survival of endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 287(3):H1207-13.
- Hasanbasic I, Rajotte I, Blostein M, 2005; The role of gamma-carboxylation in the antiapoptotic function of gas6. J Thromb Haemost. 3(12):2790-7.
- Hata A, Lieberman J, 2015; Dysregulation of microRNA biogenesis and gene silencing in cancer. Science signaling. 8(368):re3.
- Hayes J, Peruzzi PP, Lawler S, 2014; MicroRNAs in cancer: biomarkers, functions and therapy. Trends Mol Med. 20(8):460-9.
- Healy AM, Schwartz JJ, Zhu X, Herrick BE, Varnum B, Farber HW, 2001; Gas 6 promotes Axl-mediated survival in pulmonary endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 280(6):L1273-81.
- Heidenreich A, Bastian PJ, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, van der Kwast T, et al., 2014; EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. part 1: screening, diagnosis, and local treatment with curative intent-update 2013. Eur Urol. 65(1):124-37.
- Heidenreich A, Bastian PJ, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, van der Kwast T, et al., 2014; EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. Part II: Treatment of advanced, relapsing, and castrationresistant prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 65(2):467-79.
- Heinzelmann J, Henning B, Sanjmyatav J, Posorski N, Steiner T, Wunderlich H, et al., 2011; Specific miRNA signatures are associated with metastasis and poor prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. World J Urol. 29(3):367-73.
- Hermeking H, 2010; The miR-34 family in cancer and apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 17(2):193-9.
- Holland SJ, Powell MJ, Franci C, Chan EW, Friera AM, Atchison RE, et al., 2005; Multiple roles for the receptor tyrosine kinase axl in tumor formation. Cancer Res. 65(20):9294-303.
- Holland SJ, Pan A, Franci C, Hu Y, Chang B, Li W, et al., 2010; R428, a selective small molecule inhibitor of Axl kinase, blocks tumor spread and prolongs survival in models of metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res. 70(4):1544-54.
- Hosin AA, Prasad A, Viiri LE, Davies AH, Shalhoub J, 2014; MicroRNAs in atherosclerosis. J Vasc Res. 51(5):338-49.
- Huang D, Ding Y, Li Y, Luo WM, Zhang ZF, Snider J, et al., 2010; Sunitinib acts primarily on tumor endothelium rather than tumor cells to inhibit the growth of renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 70(3):1053-62.
- Huang Y, Dai Y, Yang J, Chen T, Yin Y, Tang M, et al., 2009; Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in renal clear cell carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 35(10):1119-23.
- Hunter T, 2009; Tyrosine phosphorylation: thirty years and counting. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 21(2):140-6.

- Hyde GD, Taylor RF, Ashton N, Borland SJ, Wu HS, Gilmore AP, et al., 2014; Axl tyrosine kinase protects against tubulo-interstitial apoptosis and progression of renal failure in a murine model of chronic kidney disease and hyperphosphataemia. PLoS One. 9(7):e102096.
- Ilic D, O'Connor D, Green S, Wilt T, 2007; Screening for prostate cancer: a Cochrane systematic review. Cancer Causes Control. 18(3):279-85.
- Iliopoulos D, Jaeger SA, Hirsch HA, Bulyk ML, Struhl K, 2010; STAT3 activation of miR-21 and miR-181b-1 via PTEN and CYLD are part of the epigenetic switch linking inflammation to cancer. Mol Cell. 39(4):493-506.
- Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Liu CG, Veronese A, Spizzo R, Sabbioni S, et al., 2005; MicroRNA gene expression deregulation in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 65(16):7065-70.
- Jacob AN, Kalapurakal J, Davidson WR, Kandpal G, Dunson N, Prashar Y, et al., 1999; A receptor tyrosine kinase, UFO/Axl, and other genes isolated by a modified differential display PCR are overexpressed in metastatic prostatic carcinoma cell line DU145. Cancer Detect Prev. 23(4):325-32.
- Janssen JW, Schulz AS, Steenvoorden AC, Schmidberger M, Strehl S, Ambros PF, et al., 1991; A novel putative tyrosine kinase receptor with oncogenic potential. Oncogene. 6(11):2113-20.
- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, et al., 2008; Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin. 58(2):71-96.
- Jia R, Mayer BJ, Hanafusa T, Hanafusa H, 1992; A novel oncogene, v-ryk, encoding a truncated receptor tyrosine kinase is transduced into the RPL30 virus without loss of viral sequences. J Virol. 66(10):5975-87.
- Juan D, Alexe G, Antes T, Liu H, Madabhushi A, Delisi C, et al., 2010; Identification of a microRNA panel for clear-cell kidney cancer. Urology. 75(4):835-41.
- Jung M, Mollenkopf HJ, Grimm C, Wagner I, Albrecht M, Waller T, et al., 2009; MicroRNA profiling of clear cell renal cell cancer identifies a robust signature to define renal malignancy. J Cell Mol Med. 13(9B):3918-28.
- Khella HW, White NM, Faragalla H, Gabril M, Boazak M, Dorian D, et al., 2012; Exploring the role of miRNAs in renal cell carcinoma progression and metastasis through bioinformatic and experimental analyses. Tumour Biol. 33(1):131-40.
- Khoury S, Tran N, 2015; Circulating microRNAs: potential biomarkers for common malignancies. Biomark Med. 9(2):131-51.
- Kim K, Lee H-C, Park J-L, Kim M, Kim S-Y, Noh S-M, et al., 2014; Epigenetic regulation ofmicroRNA-10band targeting of oncogenicMAPRE1in gastric cancer. Epigenetics. 6(6):740-51.
- Kojima K, Fujita Y, Nozawa Y, Deguchi T, Ito M, 2010; MiR-34a attenuates paclitaxelresistance of hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Prostate. 70(14):1501-12.
- Konishi A, Aizawa T, Mohan A, Korshunov VA, Berk BC, 2004; Hydrogen peroxide activates the Gas6-Axl pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem. 279(27):28766-70.
- Korshunov VA, Mohan AM, Georger MA, Berk BC, 2006; Axl, a receptor tyrosine kinase, mediates flow-induced vascular remodeling. Circ Res. 98(11):1446-52.
- Korshunov VA, 2012; Axl-dependent signalling: a clinical update. Clin Sci. 122(8):361-8.
- Kumarswamy R, Volkmann I, Thum T, 2011; Regulation and function of miRNA-21 in health and disease. RNA Biol. 8(5):706-13.
- 70

- Lai C, Lemke G, 1991; An extended family of protein-tyrosine kinase genes differentially expressed in the vertebrate nervous system. Neuron. 6(5):691-704.
- Lai C, Gore M, Lemke G, 1994; Structure, expression, and activity of Tyro 3, a neural adhesion-related receptor tyrosine kinase. Oncogene. 9(9):2567-78.
- Larne O, Martens-Uzunova E, Hagman Z, Edsjo A, Lippolis G, den Berg MS, et al., 2013; miQ--a novel microRNA based diagnostic and prognostic tool for prostate cancer. Int J Cancer. 132(12):2867-75.
- Lee CT, Risom T, Strauss WM, 2007; Evolutionary conservation of microRNA regulatory circuits: an examination of microRNA gene complexity and conserved microRNA-target interactions through metazoan phylogeny. DNA Cell Biol. 26(4):209-18.
- Lee HJ, Jeng YM, Chen YL, Chung L, Yuan RH, 2014; Gas6/Axl pathway promotes tumor invasion through the transcriptional activation of Slug in hepatocellular carcinoma. Carcinogenesis. 35(4):769-75.
- Lee IJ, Hilliard B, Swami A, Madara JC, Rao S, Patel T, et al., 2012; Growth arrest-specific gene 6 (Gas6) levels are elevated in patients with chronic renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 27(11):4166-72.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V, 1993; The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell. 75(5):843-54.
- Lee S, Vasudevan S, 2013; Post-transcriptional stimulation of gene expression by microRNAs. Adv Exp Med Biol. 768:97-126.
- Lee Y, Hur I, Park SY, Kim YK, Suh MR, Kim VN, 2006; The role of PACT in the RNA silencing pathway. EMBO J. 25(3):522-32.
- Leibovich BC, Blute ML, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Frank I, Kwon ED, et al., 2003; Prediction of progression after radical nephrectomy for patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma: a stratification tool for prospective clinical trials. Cancer. 97(7):1663-71.
- Lemke G, Lu Q, 2003; Macrophage regulation by Tyro 3 family receptors. Curr Opin Immunol. 15(1):31-6.
- Lemke G, Rothlin CV, 2008; Immunobiology of the TAM receptors. Nat Rev Immunol. 8(5):327-36.
- Lemke G, 2013; Biology of the TAM receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 5(11):a009076.
- Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J, 2010; Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell. 141(7):1117-34.
- Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP, 2005; Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell. 120(1):15-20.
- Li L, Davie JR, 2010; The role of Sp1 and Sp3 in normal and cancer cell biology. Ann Anat. 192(5):275-83.
- Li Y, Ye X, Tan C, Hongo JA, Zha J, Liu J, et al., 2009; Axl as a potential therapeutic target in cancer: role of Axl in tumor growth, metastasis and angiogenesis. Oncogene. 28(39):3442-55.
- Li Z, Lei H, Luo M, Wang Y, Dong L, Ma Y, et al., 2015; DNA methylation downregulated mir-10b acts as a tumor suppressor in gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer. 18(1):43-54.
- Lim LP, Lau NC, Garrett-Engele P, Grimson A, Schelter JM, Castle J, et al., 2005; Microarray analysis shows that some microRNAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. Nature. 433(7027):769-73.
- Linger RM, Keating AK, Earp HS, Graham DK, 2010; Taking aim at Mer and Axl receptor tyrosine kinases as novel therapeutic targets in solid tumors. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 14(10):1073-90.
- Linger RM, Cohen RA, Cummings CT, Sather S, Migdall-Wilson J, Middleton DH, et al., 2013; Mer or Axl receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition promotes apoptosis, blocks growth and enhances chemosensitivity of human non-small cell lung cancer. Oncogene. 32(29):3420-31.
- Liu C, Kelnar K, Liu B, Chen X, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, et al., 2011; The microRNA miR-34a inhibits prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by directly repressing CD44. Nat Med. 17(2):211-5.
- Liu D, Guo H, Griffin JH, Fernandez JA, Zlokovic BV, 2003; Protein S confers neuronal protection during ischemic/hypoxic injury in mice. Circulation. 107(13):1791-6.
- Liu H, Brannon AR, Reddy AR, Alexe G, Seiler MW, Arreola A, et al., 2010; Identifying mRNA targets of microRNA dysregulated in cancer: with application to clear cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. BMC Syst Biol. 4:51.
- Liu LZ, Li C, Chen Q, Jing Y, Carpenter R, Jiang Y, et al., 2011; MiR-21 induced angiogenesis through AKT and ERK activation and HIF-1alpha expression. PLoS One. 6(4):e19139.
- Liu R, Gong M, Li X, Zhou Y, Gao W, Tulpule A, et al., 2010; Induction, regulation, and biologic function of Axl receptor tyrosine kinase in Kaposi sarcoma. Blood. 116(2):297-305.
- Liu X, Dong C, Jiang Z, Wu WK, Chan MT, Zhang J, et al., 2015; MicroRNA-10b downregulation mediates acute rejection of renal allografts by derepressing BCL2L11. Exp Cell Res. 333(1):155-63.
- Ljungberg B, Cowan NC, Hanbury DC, Hora M, Kuczyk MA, Merseburger AS, et al., 2010; EAU guidelines on renal cell carcinoma: the 2010 update. Eur Urol. 58(3):398-406.
- Lodygin D, Tarasov V, Epanchintsev A, Berking C, Knyazeva T, Korner H, et al., 2008; Inactivation of miR-34a by aberrant CpG methylation in multiple types of cancer. Cell Cycle. 7(16):2591-600.
- Lopez-Beltran A, Carrasco JC, Cheng L, Scarpelli M, Kirkali Z, Montironi R, 2009; 2009 update on the classification of renal epithelial tumors in adults. Int J Urol. 16(5):432-43.
- Lu J, Getz G, Miska EA, Alvarez-Saavedra E, Lamb J, Peck D, et al., 2005; MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature. 435(7043):834-8.
- Lu Q, Gore M, Zhang Q, Camenisch T, Boast S, Casagranda F, et al., 1999; Tyro-3 family receptors are essential regulators of mammalian spermatogenesis. Nature. 398(6729):723-8.
- Lu Q, Lemke G, 2001; Homeostatic regulation of the immune system by receptor tyrosine kinases of the Tyro 3 family. Science. 293(5528):306-11.
- Lu Y, Yao J, Yu J, Wei Q, Cao X, 2014; The association between abnormal microRNA-10b expression and cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 4:7498.
- Lu Z, Liu M, Stribinskis V, Klinge CM, Ramos KS, Colburn NH, et al., 2008; MicroRNA-21 promotes cell transformation by targeting the programmed cell death 4 gene. Oncogene. 27(31):4373-9.
- Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J, Gray A, Sullivan R, 2013; Economic burden of cancer across the European Union: a population-based cost. Lancet Oncol. 14(12):1165-74.
- 72

- Lutgens E, Tjwa M, Garcia de Frutos P, Wijnands E, Beckers L, Dahlback B, et al., 2008; Genetic loss of Gas6 induces plaque stability in experimental atherosclerosis. J Pathol. 216(1):55-63.
- Lytle JR, Yario TA, Steitz JA, 2007; Target mRNAs are repressed as efficiently by microRNAbinding sites in the 5' UTR as in the 3' UTR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 104(23):9667-72.
- Ma L, Teruya-Feldstein J, Weinberg RA, 2007; Tumour invasion and metastasis initiated by microRNA-10b in breast cancer. Nature. 449(7163):682-8.
- Ma L, Weinberg RA, 2008; MicroRNAs in malignant progression. Cell Cycle. 7(5):570-2.
- Mackiewicz M, Huppi K, Pitt JJ, Dorsey TH, Ambs S, Caplen NJ, 2011; Identification of the receptor tyrosine kinase AXL in breast cancer as a target for the human miR-34a microRNA. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 130(2):663-79.
- Mahadevan D, Cooke L, Riley C, Swart R, Simons B, Della Croce K, et al., 2007; A novel tyrosine kinase switch is a mechanism of imatinib resistance in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Oncogene. 26(27):3909-19.
- Manalo DJ, Rowan A, Lavoie T, Natarajan L, Kelly BD, Ye SQ, et al., 2005; Transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial cell responses to hypoxia by HIF-1. Blood. 105(2):659-69.
- Manfioletti G, Brancolini C, Avanzi G, Schneider C, 1993; The protein encoded by a growth arrest-specific gene (gas6) is a new member of the vitamin K-dependent proteins related to protein S, a negative coregulator in the blood coagulation cascade. Mol Cell Biol. 13(8):4976-85.
- Mark MR, Scadden DT, Wang Z, Gu Q, Goddard A, Godowski PJ, 1994; rse, a novel receptor-type tyrosine kinase with homology to Axl/Ufo, is expressed at high levels in the brain. J Biol Chem. 269(14):10720-8.
- Mark MR, Chen J, Hammonds RG, Sadick M, Godowsk PJ, 1996; Characterization of Gas6, a member of the superfamily of G domain-containing proteins, as a ligand for Rse and Axl. J Biol Chem. 271(16):9785-9.
- Markou A, Tsaroucha EG, Kaklamanis L, Fotinou M, Georgoulias V, Lianidou ES, 2008; Prognostic value of mature microRNA-21 and microRNA-205 overexpression in nonsmall cell lung cancer by quantitative real-time RT-PCR. Clin Chem. 54(10):1696-704.
- Martens-Uzunova ES, Jalava SE, Dits NF, van Leenders GJ, Moller S, Trapman J, et al., 2012; Diagnostic and prognostic signatures from the small non-coding RNA transcriptome in prostate cancer. Oncogene. 31(8):978-91.
- McCloskey P, Fridell YW, Attar E, Villa J, Jin Y, Varnum B, et al., 1997; GAS6 mediates adhesion of cells expressing the receptor tyrosine kinase Axl. J Biol Chem. 272(37):23285-91.
- Melaragno MG, Wuthrich DA, Poppa V, Gill D, Lindner V, Berk BC, et al., 1998; Increased expression of Axl tyrosine kinase after vascular injury and regulation by G protein-coupled receptor agonists in rats. Circ Res. 83(7):697-704.
- Melaragno MG, Cavet ME, Yan C, Tai LK, Jin ZG, Haendeler J, et al., 2004; Gas6 inhibits apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle: role of Axl kinase and Akt. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 37(4):881-7.

- Meng F, Henson R, Wehbe-Janek H, Ghoshal K, Jacob ST, Patel T, 2007; MicroRNA-21 regulates expression of the PTEN tumor suppressor gene in human hepatocellular cancer. Gastroenterology. 133(2):647-58.
- Meseguer S, Mudduluru G, Escamilla JM, Allgayer H, Barettino D, 2011; MicroRNAs-10a and -10b contribute to retinoic acid-induced differentiation of neuroblastoma cells and target the alternative splicing regulatory factor SFRS1 (SF2/ASF). J Biol Chem. 286(6):4150-64.
- Metias SM, Lianidou E, Yousef GM, 2009; MicroRNAs in clinical oncology: at the crossroads between promises and problems. J Clin Pathol. 62(9):771-6.
- Meyer AS, Miller MA, Gertler FB, Lauffenburger DA, 2013; The receptor AXL diversifies EGFR signaling and limits the response to EGFR-targeted inhibitors in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Science signaling. 6(287):ra66.
- Ming Cao W, Murao K, Imachi H, Sato M, Nakano T, Kodama T, et al., 2001; Phosphatidylinositol 3-OH kinase-Akt/protein kinase B pathway mediates Gas6 induction of scavenger receptor a in immortalized human vascular smooth muscle cell line. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 21(10):1592-7.
- Mishra A, Wang J, Shiozawa Y, McGee S, Kim J, Jung Y, et al., 2012; Hypoxia stabilizes GAS6/Axl signaling in metastatic prostate cancer. Mol Cancer Res. 10(6):703-12.
- Misso G, Di Martino MT, De Rosa G, Farooqi AA, Lombardi A, Campani V, et al., 2014; Mir-34: a new weapon against cancer? Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 3:e194.
- Moss EG, Lee RC, Ambros V, 1997; The Cold Shock Domain Protein LIN-28 Controls Developmental Timing in C. elegans and Is Regulated by the lin-4 RNA. Cell. 88(5):637-46.
- Mudduluru G, Allgayer H, 2008; The human receptor tyrosine kinase Axl gene--promoter characterization and regulation of constitutive expression by Sp1, Sp3 and CpG methylation. Biosci Rep. 28(3):161-76.
- Mudduluru G, Leupold JH, Stroebel P, Allgayer H, 2010; PMA up-regulates the transcription of Axl by AP-1 transcription factor binding to TRE sequences via the MAPK cascade in leukaemia cells. Biol Cell. 103(1):21-33.
- Mudduluru G, Vajkoczy P, Allgayer H, 2010; Myeloid zinc finger 1 induces migration, invasion, and in vivo metastasis through Axl gene expression in solid cancer. Mol Cancer Res. 8(2):159-69.
- Mudduluru G, Ceppi P, Kumarswamy R, Scagliotti GV, Papotti M, Allgayer H, 2011; Regulation of Axl receptor tyrosine kinase expression by miR-34a and miR-199a/b in solid cancer. Oncogene. 30(25):2888-99.
- Mukherji S, Ebert MS, Zheng GX, Tsang JS, Sharp PA, van Oudenaarden A, 2011; MicroRNAs can generate thresholds in target gene expression. Nat Genet. 43(9):854-9.
- Muppala S, Mudduluru G, Leupold JH, Buergy D, Sleeman JP, Allgayer H, 2013; CD24 induces expression of the oncomir miR-21 via Src, and CD24 and Src are both post-transcriptionally downregulated by the tumor suppressor miR-34a. PLoS One. 8(3):e59563.
- Myers RP, 2000; Structure of the adult prostate from a clinician's standpoint. Clin Anat. 13(3):214-5.

- Nagai K, Arai H, Yanagita M, Matsubara T, Kanamori H, Nakano T, et al., 2003; Growth arrest-specific gene 6 is involved in glomerular hypertrophy in the early stage of diabetic nephropathy. J Biol Chem. 278(20):18229-34.
- Nagai K, Matsubara T, Mima A, Sumi E, Kanamori H, Iehara N, et al., 2005; Gas6 induces Akt/mTOR-mediated mesangial hypertrophy in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. 68(2):552-61.
- Nakano T, Kawamoto K, Higashino K, Arita H, 1996; Prevention of growth arrest-induced cell death of vascular smooth muscle cells by a product of growth arrest-specific gene, gas6. FEBS Lett. 387(1):78-80.
- Neil JD, 2005 Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction. 3 ed: Elsevier Science.
- Neubauer A, Fiebeler A, Graham DK, O'Bryan JP, Schmidt CA, Barckow P, et al., 1994; Expression of axl, a transforming receptor tyrosine kinase, in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. Blood. 84(6):1931-41.
- Nguyen KQ, Tsou WI, Calarese DA, Kimani SG, Singh S, Hsieh S, et al., 2014; Overexpression of MERTK receptor tyrosine kinase in epithelial cancer cells drives efferocytosis in a gain-of-function capacity. J Biol Chem. 289(37):25737-49.
- Nimmagadda S, Pullambhatla M, Lisok A, Hu C, Maitra A, Pomper MG, 2014; Imaging Axl expression in pancreatic and prostate cancer xenografts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 443(2):635-40.
- Novara G, Ficarra V, Antonelli A, Artibani W, Bertini R, Carini M, et al., 2010; Validation of the 2009 TNM version in a large multi-institutional cohort of patients treated for renal cell carcinoma: are further improvements needed? Eur Urol. 58(4):588-95.
- O'Bryan JP, Frye RA, Cogswell PC, Neubauer A, Kitch B, Prokop C, et al., 1991; axl, a transforming gene isolated from primary human myeloid leukemia cells, encodes a novel receptor tyrosine kinase. Mol Cell Biol. 11(10):5016-31.
- O'Bryan JP, Fridell YW, Koski R, Varnum B, Liu ET, 1995; The transforming receptor tyrosine kinase, Axl, is post-translationally regulated by proteolytic cleavage. J Biol Chem. 270(2):551-7.
- Olive V, Minella AC, He L, 2015; Outside the coding genome, mammalian microRNAs confer structural and functional complexity. Science signaling. 8(368):re2.
- Osanto S, Qin Y, Buermans HP, Berkers J, Lerut E, Goeman JJ, et al., 2012; Genome-wide microRNA expression analysis of clear cell renal cell carcinoma by next generation deep sequencing. PLoS One. 7(6):e38298.
- Paccez JD, Vasques GJ, Correa RG, Vasconcellos JF, Duncan K, Gu X, et al., 2013; The receptor tyrosine kinase Axl is an essential regulator of prostate cancer proliferation and tumor growth and represents a new therapeutic target. Oncogene. 32(6):689-98.
- Paolino M, Choidas A, Wallner S, Pranjic B, Uribesalgo I, Loeser S, et al., 2014; The E3 ligase Cbl-b and TAM receptors regulate cancer metastasis via natural killer cells. Nature. 507(7493):508-12.
- Park IK, Giovenzana C, Hughes TL, Yu J, Trotta R, Caligiuri MA, 2009; The Axl/Gas6 pathway is required for optimal cytokine signaling during human natural killer cell development. Blood. 113(11):2470-7.
- Park IK, Trotta R, Yu J, Caligiuri MA, 2013; Axl/Gas6 pathway positively regulates FLT3 activation in human natural killer cell development. Eur J Immunol. 43(10):2750-5.

- Pierce AM, Keating AK, 2014; TAM receptor tyrosine kinases: expression, disease and oncogenesis in the central nervous system. Brain Res. 1542:206-20.
- Pizzini S, Bisognin A, Mandruzzato S, Biasiolo M, Facciolli A, Perilli L, et al., 2013; Impact of microRNAs on regulatory networks and pathways in human colorectal carcinogenesis and development of metastasis. BMC Genomics. 14:589.
- Prasad D, Rothlin CV, Burrola P, Burstyn-Cohen T, Lu Q, Garcia de Frutos P, et al., 2006; TAM receptor function in the retinal pigment epithelium. Mol Cell Neurosci. 33(1):96-108.
- Pratt AJ, MacRae IJ, 2009; The RNA-induced silencing complex: a versatile gene-silencing machine. J Biol Chem. 284(27):17897-901.
- Rankin EB, Fuh KC, Castellini L, Viswanathan K, Finger EC, Diep AN, et al., 2014; Direct regulation of GAS6/AXL signaling by HIF promotes renal metastasis through SRC and MET. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 111(37):13373-8.
- Reinhart BJ, Slack FJ, Basson M, Pasquinelli AE, Bettinger JC, Rougvie AE, et al., 2000; The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature. 403(6772):901-6.
- Rivas FV, Tolia NH, Song JJ, Aragon JP, Liu J, Hannon GJ, et al., 2005; Purified Argonaute2 and an siRNA form recombinant human RISC. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 12(4):340-9.
- Rothlin CV, Ghosh S, Zuniga EI, Oldstone MB, Lemke G, 2007; TAM receptors are pleiotropic inhibitors of the innate immune response. Cell. 131(6):1124-36.
- Rothlin CV, Carrera-Silva EA, Bosurgi L, Ghosh S, 2015; TAM Receptor Signaling in Immune Homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol.
- Ruan GX, Kazlauskas A, 2012; Axl is essential for VEGF-A-dependent activation of PI3K/Akt. EMBO J. 31(7):1692-703.
- Ruan GX, Kazlauskas A, 2013; Lactate engages receptor tyrosine kinases Axl, Tie2, and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 to activate phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and promote angiogenesis. J Biol Chem. 288(29):21161-72.
- Russo P, 2012; End stage and chronic kidney disease: associations with renal cancer. Front Oncol. 2:28.
- Rusthoven CG, Carlson JA, Waxweiler TV, Yeh N, Raben D, Flaig TW, et al., 2014; The prognostic significance of Gleason scores in metastatic prostate cancer. Urol Oncol. 32(5):707-13.
- Sainaghi PP, Castello L, Bergamasco L, Galletti M, Bellosta P, Avanzi GC, 2005; Gas6 induces proliferation in prostate carcinoma cell lines expressing the Axl receptor. J Cell Physiol. 204(1):36-44.
- Salian-Mehta S, Xu M, Wierman ME, 2013; AXL and MET crosstalk to promote gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neuronal cell migration and survival. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 374(1-2):92-100.
- Sasaki T, Knyazev PG, Cheburkin Y, Gohring W, Tisi D, Ullrich A, et al., 2002; Crystal structure of a C-terminal fragment of growth arrest-specific protein Gas6. Receptor tyrosine kinase activation by laminin G-like domains. J Biol Chem. 277(46):44164-70.
- Sasaki T, Knyazev PG, Clout NJ, Cheburkin Y, Gohring W, Ullrich A, et al., 2006; Structural basis for Gas6-Axl signalling. EMBO J. 25(1):80-7.



- Sather S, Kenyon KD, Lefkowitz JB, Liang X, Varnum BC, Henson PM, et al., 2007; A soluble form of the Mer receptor tyrosine kinase inhibits macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells and platelet aggregation. Blood. 109(3):1026-33.
- Sax JK, Stoddard A, Murphy ME, Chodosh L, El-Deiry WS, 2014; Microarray Expression Profiling of p53-Dependent Transcriptional Changes in an Immortalized Mouse Embryo Fibroblast Cell Line. Cancer Biol Ther. 2(4):416-30.
- Schneider C, King RM, Philipson L, 1988; Genes specifically expressed at growth arrest of mammalian cells. Cell. 54(6):787-93.
- Schroder FH, Hugosson J, Roobol MJ, Tammela TL, Ciatto S, Nelen V, et al., 2009; Screening and prostate-cancer mortality in a randomized European study. N Engl J Med. 360(13):1320-8.
- Schulz AS, Schleithoff L, Faust M, Bartram CR, Janssen JW, 1993; The genomic structure of the human UFO receptor. Oncogene. 8(2):509-13.
- Scutera S, Fraone T, Musso T, Cappello P, Rossi S, Pierobon D, et al., 2009; Survival and migration of human dendritic cells are regulated by an IFN-alpha-inducible Axl/Gas6 pathway. J Immunol. 183(5):3004-13.
- Seitz HM, Camenisch TD, Lemke G, Earp HS, Matsushima GK, 2007; Macrophages and dendritic cells use different Axl/Mertk/Tyro3 receptors in clearance of apoptotic cells. J Immunol. 178(9):5635-42.
- Selcuklu SD, Donoghue MT, Spillane C, 2009; miR-21 as a key regulator of oncogenic processes. Biochem Soc Trans. 37(Pt 4):918-25.
- Sen P, Wallet MA, Yi Z, Huang Y, Henderson M, Mathews CE, et al., 2007; Apoptotic cells induce Mer tyrosine kinase-dependent blockade of NF-kappaB activation in dendritic cells. Blood. 109(2):653-60.
- Shankar SL, O'Guin K, Kim M, Varnum B, Lemke G, Brosnan CF, et al., 2006; Gas6/Axl signaling activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt1 survival pathway to protect oligodendrocytes from tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Neurosci. 26(21):5638-48.
- Shao WH, Cohen PL, 2011; Disturbances of apoptotic cell clearance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther. 13(1):202.
- Sharif MN, Sosic D, Rothlin CV, Kelly E, Lemke G, Olson EN, et al., 2006; Twist mediates suppression of inflammation by type I IFNs and Axl. J Exp Med. 203(8):1891-901.
- Sheedy FJ, 2015; Turning 21: Induction of miR-21 as a Key Switch in the Inflammatory Response. Front Immunol. 6:19.
- Shen J, Hung MC, 2015; Signaling-Mediated Regulation of MicroRNA Processing. Cancer Res. 75(5):783-91.
- Sheridan C, 2013; First Axl inhibitor enters clinical trials. Nat Biotechnol. 31(9):775-6.
- Shiozawa Y, Pedersen EA, Patel LR, Ziegler AM, Havens AM, Jung Y, et al., 2010;
- GAS6/AXL axis regulates prostate cancer invasion, proliferation, and survival in the bone marrow niche. Neoplasia. 12(2):116-27.
- Shkumatava A, Stark A, Sive H, Bartel DP, 2009; Coherent but overlapping expression of microRNAs and their targets during vertebrate development. Genes Dev. 23(4):466-81.
- Si ML, Zhu S, Wu H, Lu Z, Wu F, Mo YY, 2007; miR-21-mediated tumor growth. Oncogene. 26(19):2799-803.

- Slaby O, Redova M, Poprach A, Nekvindova J, Iliev R, Radova L, et al., 2012; Identification of MicroRNAs associated with early relapse after nephrectomy in renal cell carcinoma patients. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 51(7):707-16.
- Slack FJ, Basson M, Liu Z, Ambros V, Horvitz HR, Ruvkun G, 2000; The lin-41 RBCC Gene Acts in the C. elegans Heterochronic Pathway between the let-7 Regulatory RNA and the LIN-29 Transcription Factor. Mol Cell. 5(4):659-69.
- Sotillo E, Laver T, Mellert H, Schelter JM, Cleary MA, McMahon S, et al., 2011; Myc overexpression brings out unexpected antiapoptotic effects of miR-34a. Oncogene. 30(22):2587-94.
- Stenhoff J, Dahlback B, Hafizi S, 2004; Vitamin K-dependent Gas6 activates ERK kinase and stimulates growth of cardiac fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 319(3):871-8.
- Stitt TN, Conn G, Gore M, Lai C, Bruno J, Radziejewski C, et al., 1995; The anticoagulation factor protein S and its relative, Gas6, are ligands for the Tyro 3/Axl family of receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell. 80(4):661-70.
- Suleiman L, Negrier C, Boukerche H, 2013; Protein S: A multifunctional anticoagulant vitamin K-dependent protein at the crossroads of coagulation, inflammation, angiogenesis, and cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 88(3):637-54.
- Taichman RS, Patel LR, Bedenis R, Wang J, Weidner S, Schumann T, et al., 2013; GAS6 receptor status is associated with dormancy and bone metastatic tumor formation. PLoS One. 8(4):e61873.
- Tanabe K, Nagata K, Ohashi K, Nakano T, Arita H, Mizuno K, 1997; Roles of gammacarboxylation and a sex hormone-binding globulin-like domain in receptor-binding and in biological activities of Gas6. FEBS Lett. 408(3):306-10.
- Tian R, Xie X, Han J, Luo C, Yong B, Peng H, et al., 2014; miR-199a-3p negatively regulates the progression of osteosarcoma through targeting AXL. Am J Cancer Res. 4(6):738-50.
- Tian Y, Luo A, Cai Y, Su Q, Ding F, Chen H, et al., 2010; MicroRNA-10b promotes migration and invasion through KLF4 in human esophageal cancer cell lines. J Biol Chem. 285(11):7986-94.
- Tjwa M, Bellido-Martin L, Lin Y, Lutgens E, Plaisance S, Bono F, et al., 2008; Gas6 promotes inflammation by enhancing interactions between endothelial cells, platelets, and leukocytes. Blood. 111(8):4096-105.
- Tomobe YI, Hama H, Sakurai T, Fujimori A, Abe Y, Goto K, 1996; Anticoagulant factor protein S inhibits the proliferation of rat astrocytes after injury. Neurosci Lett. 214(1):57-60.
- Tsuchiyama K, Ito H, Taga M, Naganuma S, Oshinoya Y, Nagano K, et al., 2013; Expression of microRNAs associated with Gleason grading system in prostate cancer: miR-182-5p is a useful marker for high grade prostate cancer. Prostate. 73(8):827-34.
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al., 2015; Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science. 347(6220):1260419.
- Uings IJ, Farrow SN, 2000; Cell receptors and cell signalling. Mol Pathol. 53(6):295-9.
- van der Meer JH, van der Poll T, van 't Veer C, 2014; TAM receptors, Gas6, and protein S: roles in inflammation and hemostasis. Blood. 123(16):2460-9.
- van Ginkel PR, Gee RL, Shearer RL, Subramanian L, Walker TM, Albert DM, et al., 2004; Expression of the receptor tyrosine kinase Axl promotes ocular melanoma cell survival. Cancer Res. 64(1):128-34.
- 78

- Varnum BC, Young C, Elliott G, Garcia A, Bartley TD, Fridell YW, et al., 1995; Axl receptor tyrosine kinase stimulated by the vitamin K-dependent protein encoded by growth-arrestspecific gene 6. Nature. 373(6515):623-6.
- Verma A, Warner SL, Vankayalapati H, Bearss DJ, Sharma S, 2011; Targeting Axl and Mer kinases in cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 10(10):1763-73.

Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ, 2000; Surfing the p53 network. Nature. 408(6810):307-10.

- Vogt M, Munding J, Gruner M, Liffers ST, Verdoodt B, Hauk J, et al., 2011; Frequent concomitant inactivation of miR-34a and miR-34b/c by CpG methylation in. Virchows Arch. 458(3):313-22.
- Volonte C, Apolloni S, Parisi C, 2015; MicroRNAs: Newcomers into the ALS Picture. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 14(2):194-207.
- Vuoriluoto K, Haugen H, Kiviluoto S, Mpindi JP, Nevo J, Gjerdrum C, et al., 2011; Vimentin regulates EMT induction by Slug and oncogenic H-Ras and migration by governing Axl expression in breast cancer. Oncogene. 30(12):1436-48.
- Walter BA, Valera VA, Pinto PA, Merino MJ, 2013; Comprehensive microRNA Profiling of Prostate Cancer. J Cancer. 4(5):350-7.
- Wang F, Yang XY, Zhao JY, Yu LW, Zhang P, Duan WY, et al., 2014; miR-10a and miR-10b target the 3'-untranslated region of TBX5 to repress its expression. Pediatr Cardiol. 35(6):1072-9.
- Wang HW, Noland C, Siridechadilok B, Taylor DW, Ma E, Felderer K, et al., 2009; Structural insights into RNA processing by the human RISC-loading complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 16(11):1148-53.
- Weikert S, Ljungberg B, 2010; Contemporary epidemiology of renal cell carcinoma: perspectives of primary prevention. World J Urol. 28(3):247-52.
- Weinger JG, Gohari P, Yan Y, Backer JM, Varnum B, Shafit-Zagardo B, 2008; In brain, Axl recruits Grb2 and the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3 kinase; in vitro mutagenesis defines the requisite binding sites for downstream Akt activation. J Neurochem. 106(1):134-46.
- Weinger JG, Omari KM, Marsden K, Raine CS, Shafit-Zagardo B, 2009; Up-regulation of soluble Axl and Mer receptor tyrosine kinases negatively correlates with Gas6 in established multiple sclerosis lesions. Am J Pathol. 175(1):283-93.
- Weinger JG, Brosnan CF, Loudig O, Goldberg MF, Macian F, Arnett HA, et al., 2011; Loss of the receptor tyrosine kinase Axl leads to enhanced inflammation in the CNS and delayed removal of myelin debris during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroinflammation. 8:49.
- White NM, Bao TT, Grigull J, Youssef YM, Girgis A, Diamandis M, et al., 2011; miRNA profiling for clear cell renal cell carcinoma: biomarker discovery and identification of potential controls and consequences of miRNA dysregulation. J Urol. 186(3):1077-83.
- Widmaier EP, Raff H, Stang KT, 2006 Vander's Human Physiology. 10 ed. New Yrok: McGraw-Hill.
- Wimmel A, Glitz D, Kraus A, Roeder J, Schuermann M, 2001; Axl receptor tyrosine kinase expression in human lung cancer cell lines correlates with cellular adhesion. Eur J Cancer. 37(17):2264-74.
- Wittekind C, Compton CC, Greene FL, Sobin LH, 2002; TNM residual tumor classification revisited. Cancer. 94(9):2511-6.

- Wotschofsky Z, Liep J, Meyer HA, Jung M, Wagner I, Disch AC, et al., 2012; Identification of metastamirs as metastasis-associated microRNAs in clear cell renal cell carcinomas. Int J Biol Sci. 8(10):1363-74.
- Wu F, Li J, Jang C, Wang J, Xiong J, 2014; The role of Axl in drug resistance and epithelialto-mesenchymal transition of non-small cell lung carcinoma. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 7(10):6653-61.
- Wu J, Ekman C, Jonsen A, Sturfelt G, Bengtsson AA, Gottsater A, et al., 2011; Increased plasma levels of the soluble Mer tyrosine kinase receptor in systemic lupus erythematosus relate to disease activity and nephritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 13(2):R62.
- Wu X, Weng L, Li X, Guo C, Pal SK, Jin JM, et al., 2012; Identification of a 4-microRNA signature for clear cell renal cell carcinoma metastasis and prognosis. PLoS One. 7(5):e35661.
- Wu X, Liu X, Koul S, Lee CY, Zhang Z, Halmos B, 2014; AXL kinase as a novel target for cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 5(20):9546-63.
- Yamamura S, Saini S, Majid S, Hirata H, Ueno K, Chang I, et al., 2012; MicroRNA-34a suppresses malignant transformation by targeting c-Myc transcriptional complexes in human renal cell carcinoma. Carcinogenesis. 33(2):294-300.
- Yan LX, Huang XF, Shao Q, Huang MY, Deng L, Wu QL, et al., 2008; MicroRNA miR-21 overexpression in human breast cancer is associated with advanced clinical stage, lymph node metastasis and patient poor prognosis. RNA. 14(11):2348-60.
- Yanagita M, Ishii K, Ozaki H, Arai H, Nakano T, Ohashi K, et al., 1999; Mechanism of inhibitory effect of warfarin on mesangial cell proliferation. J Am Soc Nephrol. 10(12):2503-9.
- Yanagita M, Arai H, Ishii K, Nakano T, Ohashi K, Mizuno K, et al., 2001; Gas6 regulates mesangial cell proliferation through Axl in experimental glomerulonephritis. Am J Pathol. 158(4):1423-32.
- Yanagita M, Arai H, Nakano T, Ohashi K, Mizuno K, Fukatsu A, et al., 2001; Gas6 induces mesangial cell proliferation via latent transcription factor STAT3. J Biol Chem. 276(45):42364-9.
- Yanagita M, Ishimoto Y, Arai H, Nagai K, Ito T, Nakano T, et al., 2002; Essential role of Gas6 for glomerular injury in nephrotoxic nephritis. J Clin Invest. 110(2):239-46.
- Ye X, Li Y, Stawicki S, Couto S, Eastham-Anderson J, Kallop D, et al., 2010; An anti-Axl monoclonal antibody attenuates xenograft tumor growth and enhances the effect of multiple anticancer therapies. Oncogene. 29(38):5254-64.
- Yin JL, Pilmore HL, Yan YQ, McCaughan GW, Bishop GA, Hambly BD, et al., 2002; Expression of growth arrest-specific gene 6 and its receptors in a rat model of chronic renal transplant rejection. Transplantation. 73(4):657-60.
- Yin JL, Hambly BD, Bao SS, Painter D, Bishop GA, Eris JM, 2003; Expression of growth arrest-specific gene 6 and its receptors in dysfunctional human renal allografts. Transpl Int. 16(9):681-8.
- Yu G, Li H, Wang J, Gumireddy K, Li A, Yao W, et al., 2014; miRNA-34a suppresses cell proliferation and metastasis by targeting CD44 in human renal carcinoma cells. J Urol. 192(4):1229-37.

- Zahuczky G, Kristof E, Majai G, Fesus L, 2011; Differentiation and glucocorticoid regulated apopto-phagocytic gene expression patterns in human macrophages. Role of Mertk in enhanced phagocytosis. PLoS One. 6(6):e21349.
- Zaman MS, Shahryari V, Deng G, Thamminana S, Saini S, Majid S, et al., 2012; Upregulation of microRNA-21 correlates with lower kidney cancer survival. PLoS One. 7(2):e31060.
- Zardo G, Ciolfi A, Vian L, Starnes LM, Billi M, Racanicchi S, et al., 2012; Polycombs and microRNA-223 regulate human granulopoiesis by transcriptional control of target gene expression. Blood. 119(17):4034-46.
- Zarjou A, Yang S, Abraham E, Agarwal A, Liu G, 2011; Identification of a microRNA signature in renal fibrosis: role of miR-21. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 301(4):F793-801.
- Zhang A, Liu Y, Shen Y, Xu Y, Li X, 2011; miR-21 modulates cell apoptosis by targeting multiple genes in renal cell carcinoma. Urology. 78(2):474 e13-9.
- Zhang C, Mo R, Yin B, Zhou L, Liu Y, Fan J, 2014; Tumor suppressor microRNA-34a inhibits cell proliferation by targeting Notch1 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncol Lett. 7(5):1689-94.
- Zhang H, Guo Y, Shang C, Song Y, Wu B, 2012; miR-21 downregulated TCF21 to inhibit KISS1 in renal cancer. Urology. 80(6):1298-302 e1.
- Zhang J, Xu L, Yang Z, Lu H, Hu D, Li W, et al., 2015; MicroRNA-10b indicates a poor prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer and targets E-cadherin. Clin Transl Oncol. 17(3):209-14.
- Zhang Z, Lee JC, Lin L, Olivas V, Au V, LaFramboise T, et al., 2012; Activation of the AXL kinase causes resistance to EGFR-targeted therapy in lung cancer. Nat Genet. 44(8):852-60.
- Zhu W, Xu B, 2014; MicroRNA-21 identified as predictor of cancer outcome: a metaanalysis. PLoS One. 9(8):e103373.